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k1 VENTURES

k1 VENTURES’ GOAL
IS TO BE A PREMIER
INVESTMENT COMPANY
INVESTED IN DIVERSE
SECTORS INCLUDING
TRANSPORTATION
LEASING, EDUCATION, OIL
AND GAS EXPLORATION,
FINANCIAL SERVICES AND
AUTOMOTIVE RETAIL.
We strive to deliver returns to our
shareholders through the utilisation
of value-add strategies, expertise,
experience and the proactive
management of our investments.
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GROUP FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS

$78.7m
GROUP REVENUE
increased 10.5% from FY2011’s $71.2m

$54.3m
GROUP EBITDA
increased 38.3% from FY2011’s $39.2m

0.5¢
FINAL DIVIDEND
of 0.5 cent per share recommended

2012

2011

%
Change

For the year ($ million)
Revenue
Proﬁt/(loss)
EBITDA
Operating
Before tax
Attributable
Operating cashﬂow

78.7

71.2

10.5

54.3
(58.7)
(60.6)
11.9
18.9

39.2
(4.7)
(4.8)
(4.7)
0.6

38.3
>500
>500
n.m.
>500

Per share (cents)
Basic earnings/(loss)
Before tax
Attributable
Net assets
Net tangible assets

(2.09)
0.55
15.6
11.4

(0.23)
(0.22)
15.7
9.4

>500
n.m.
(0.6)
21.3

At year-end ($ million)
Shareholders’ funds
Capital employed
Net borrowings
Gearing (times)

338.7
369.9
108.5
0.29

339.0
380.3
106.9
0.28

(0.1)
(2.7)
1.5
3.6

Return on shareholders’ funds* (%)
Loss before tax

(13.4)

(1.4)

>500

3.3

(1.3)

n.m.

Attributable proﬁt/(loss)
n.m.
*

not meaningful
Based on average shareholders’ funds. Average shareholders’ funds refer to the average of
shareholders’ funds at the beginning and end of the ﬁnancial year.

2012
1Q

Group quarterly results ($ million)
Revenue
EBITDA
Operating proﬁt/(loss)
Proﬁt/(loss)
Before tax
Attributable
Earnings/(loss) per share (cents)

Group Financial Highlights

2011

2Q

3Q

4Q

15.0
8.5
(0.9)

18.1
11.9
1.4

20.4
17.0
6.9

25.2
16.9
(66.1)

(1.8)
(0.9)
(0.04)

1.2
43.2
1.99

6.8
6.6
0.31

(66.8)
(37.0)
(1.71)

Total

1Q

2Q

3Q

4Q

Total

78.7
54.3
(58.7)

16.5
10.8
1.3

16.0
11.3
0.9

15.7
10.9
(0.1)

23.0
6.2
(6.8)

71.2
39.2
(4.7)

(60.6)
11.9
0.55

0.1
(2.2)
(0.10)

1.3
(0.8)
(0.04)

1.0
(0.8)
(0.03)

(7.2)
(0.9)
(0.05)

(4.8)
(4.7)
(0.22)
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

“MOVING FORWARD, WE WILL FOCUS
ON THE MANAGEMENT OF OUR
CURRENT INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO
TO MAXIMISE SHAREHOLDER VALUE,
AND TO DISTRIBUTE EXCESS CASH
AS INVESTMENTS ARE MONETISED.”

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
I would like to discuss the Voluntary
Conditional Cash Offer (the Offer), and
the reason for making the Offer, prior
to discussing the results of FY2012.
As you know, the three largest
shareholders of the Company formed
GKB Holdings Pte Ltd (GKB) for the
purpose of making the Offer.
GKB’s intent was quite simple. After
spending signiﬁcant time assessing
various alternatives for raising capital,
we concluded that we could not take
advantage of the capital markets
to increase our investable capital
without being unfairly dilutive to the
existing shareholders. As such, the
Board decided that it would be in the
best interests of the Company and
its shareholders that we discontinue
making investments and instead focus
solely upon the management of the
existing portfolio of investments.
Considering the trading level of
our stock relative to the Net Asset
Value (NAV) and further considering
the uncertainty with the timing and
value associated with the realisation
of our investments, we felt that our
shareholders would be best served if
they were provided with an alternative

Chairman’s Statement

to holding their k1 stock for an
undetermined period of time. As such,
GKB made the Offer at a meaningful
premium to the trading price of the
stock that provided immediate liquidity,
without brokerage fees. We felt that
the Offer was fair considering the risks
imbedded in our investments, including
lack of control in many instances, as
well as the uncertainty regarding timing
of a monetisation.

exceed the entire net capital of the
Company at the time we assumed
management control. The 0.50 cent
distribution represents an approximate
4.8% return on the average closing
price of our stock during FY2012.
However, it should be noted that
without a monetisation of an investment,
the Company will not likely be in
a position to pay a dividend for the
upcoming year.

We did not garner the necessary votes
as shareholders elected to remain
shareholders of the Company in what
we view as an expression of conﬁdence
that management can obtain a higher
return over time than the Offer provided.
We acknowledge this conﬁdence and
will work diligently to achieve as high a
return as is possible. However, we must
be mindful that market volatility and
uncertainties exist, which increase the
overall risk proﬁle associated with our
underlying investments.

Group revenue for FY2012 was 10.5%
more than previous year due principally
to an increase in proceeds from the
sale of investments and investment
income received from the Guggenheim
Preferred security, offset in part by a
decline in leasing revenue from Helm.
The increase in proceeds resulting
from the sale of investments was due
in large part to distributions received
from Knowledge Universe Holdings,
LP (KUH), which represented the
Company’s share of non-core asset
sales. The investment income from
Guggenheim was the result of the
7% dividend the Group received on
its investment.

Once again we have recommended
a dividend distribution of 0.50 cent,
increasing cumulative distributions to
our shareholders to 23.3 cents per share
or more than $480 million since we
assumed management responsibilities.
The cumulative dividend distributions

The Group’s results for the year
ended 30 June 2012 were signiﬁcantly
impacted by impairment losses at Helm,
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as determined pursuant to annual
third-party impairment assessments.
The ﬁxed asset impairment loss was
necessitated by continued weakness
in Helm’s core ﬂeet of six-axle
locomotives, resulting in an impairment
of $18.3 million. In addition, as a result
of the general weakness in the leasing
market and the inability to put back on
lease a large number of Helm’s six-axle
locomotive ﬂeet, Helm also recognised
Goodwill and Other intangible
impairment losses of $43.5 million
and $11.9 million, respectively.
Although we have been able to manage
discretionary operating expenses
at Helm, the inability to achieve a
return on the invested capital in the
off-lease six-axle locomotive ﬂeet has
caused Helm to underperform, and
we expect that this will continue in the
near future. Helm’s management is
assessing the alternatives regarding
the six-axle ﬂeet, which include sale,
scraping of the equipment and/or
dismantling as part of a programme
to sell parts.
Helm has committed to a US$50-million
rebuild programme on 102 leased
locomotives that will convert to new
leases ranging from ﬁve to seven years
upon completion of the programme.
This is a positive development that will
retain on lease a signiﬁcant number of
locomotives, although Helm will incur
considerable capital costs under the
rebuild programme.
Our investment of US$100 million
of Preferred Units and approximately
11.1 million detachable Warrants to
acquire common units in Guggenheim
Capital, LLC, a privately held global
ﬁnancial services ﬁrm with currently
more than US$160 billion in assets
under management, has performed as
expected. The Preferred Units delivered
a 7% annual dividend. Guggenheim
continues to expand its business and in
particular its insurance business unit,
which has contributed to signiﬁcant
additional assets under management.
KUH, which in turn owns an
approximate 65% interest in Knowledge
Universe Education (KUE), a leading
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global education company with
over 3,000 locations and over 40,000
employees, is experiencing challenges
in their business in the United States
due in large part to historically high
unemployment in the country, resulting
in declining enrolment and retention.
KUH’s international headquarters
is located in Singapore where it
oversees more than 200 locations
in Singapore, Malaysia, India and
the UK. The international business,
which operates mainly under the
brands Busy Bees, Learning Vision,
Learning Horizon, Pat’s School House,
The Children’s House and Canadian
International School, are moving
ahead as planned.
Construction of the new, state-ofthe-art $140 million Canadian
International School Lakeside Campus
in Jurong, Singapore was completed
in March 2012. It currently provides
classrooms and academic facilities
to approximately 2,000 students
from kindergarten to year 12, with
an overall capacity of approximately
3,300 students. International
expansion continues to be a focus,
and so is the improvement of the
US business.
During the current ﬁnancial year,
we received approximately US$8 million
in distributions from KUH, principally
resulting from the sale of non-core
assets, bringing total distributions
since we made the investment to
approximately US$60 million. The Group
accounted for these distributions in
the current ﬁnancial year as income,
and the carrying value of the KUH
investment remains unchanged from
the previous year end.
China Auto I Co-Investors is a special
purpose entity formed to invest
indirectly in Guanghui Automobile
(China Grand Auto). China Grand Auto
continues to perform well and has
ﬁled for an initial public offering (IPO)
to list on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
We continue to be optimistic regarding
China Grand Auto and the ultimate
monetisation of our investment,
although we are uncertain about

k1 Ventures Limited
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Helm is embarking on a rebuilding programme of some of its
locomotives which will support renewal of leases for these
locomotives, a positive development for Helm.

the timing and pricing of the IPO,
should it occur.
We continue to own 2,309,000
common shares in McMoRan
Exploration (MMR). MMR’s stock
price as at 30 June 2012 was
US$12.67 per share, which is 31%
below the previous year-end stock
price. We believe that the decline in
value is mainly due to global commodity
pressures and the risks that the
market has associated with ultra-deep
well drilling.
Continued economic weakness,
and in particular lack of growth in
homebuilding and high unemployment
in the US, has presented several unique
challenges regarding our US-based
investments. Although we are conﬁdent
that the management of the operating
entities are focused on the business
speciﬁc issues at hand and are
taking action to improve overall results,
it is impossible to predict when such
actions will result in incremental
value creation.
While we believe that at some point
there will be opportunistic investments
available, we recognise that to take
advantage of them we needed to

Chairman’s Statement

increase the capital of the Company.
The Board and Management
spent much time assessing the
various ways of raising capital, which
included meetings with various
banks and investment advisors. The
conclusion was that capital was
available, but under terms that would
have resulted in material dilution
to the existing shareholders. It was
concluded that shareholders were best
served by not seeking additional
capital and instead focus on the
management of the current investment
portfolio with the view to maximise
shareholder value, and to distribute
excess cash as investments
are monetised.

I would like to thank the Board of
Directors, shareholders and the
management of k1 for their valued
efforts and continued support.
Yours sincerely,

STEVEN JAY GREEN
CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
31 August 2012

In my 2011 letter to Shareholders,
I voiced optimism about the recovery
of the US investment landscape,
but unfortunately global economic
issues, particularly the European
sovereign debt crises, and continued
weakness of the US economy, along
with geopolitical issues, could not
have been predicted at that time.
These issues as well as continued
uncertainty regarding the US political
environment will serve to create an
atmosphere of uncertainty in the
short term.
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STEVEN JAY GREEN, 67
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Honorary Doctorate degree from the School of
Law of Florida International University
Date of ﬁrst appointment as a director:
7 September 2001
Date of last re-election as a director:
28 October 2011
Length of service as a director
(as at 30 June 2012):
10 years 10 months
Board Committee(s) served on:
Nil
Present Directorships (as at 30 June 2012):
Listed companies
Nil
Other principal directorships
D.L. Associates, L.P
D.L. Enterprises, Inc.
GFI II, L.P.
GFI III, L.P.
Green Family Foundation (Chairman)
Greenstreet Capital Management, Inc.
GS Maritime Holdings, LLC (CEO)
United Maritime Group (Chairman and CEO)
Guggenheim International (Chairman)
Long Haul Holdings Corp.
GIC Real Estate Private Limited
Scripps Research Institute
Knowledge Universe Learning Group, LLC
Knowledge Universe Holdings, LLC
KU Education, Inc.
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Major Appointments (other than
directorships):
Government Investment Corporation
of Singapore Real Estate Board
(Member of the Advisory Board)
United States Navy Advisory Panel (Member)
University of Miami and Scripps Research
Institute (Member of Board of Trustee)
Honorary Consul General of Singapore in
Miami, Florida
Past Directorships held over the
preceding 5 years (from 1 July 2007
to 30 June 2012):
Knowledge Schools Inc.
Vistage International, Inc.
Others:
Former US Ambassador to Singapore
from November 1997 to March 2001
Former Member of the United States
Navy Advisory Panel
Former Chairman and CEO of
Samsonite Corporation

k1 Ventures Limited
Report to Shareholders 2012

CHOO CHIAU BENG, 64
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Bachelor of Science (First Class Honours),
University of Newcastle upon Tyne
(awarded the Colombo Plan Scholarship
to study Naval Architecture)
Master of Science in Naval Architecture,
University of Newcastle upon Tyne
Attended the Programme for Management
Development in Harvard Business School
in 1982
Member of the Wharton Society of Fellows,
University of Pennsylvania
Date of ﬁrst appointment as a director:
27 July 2000
Date of last re-election as a director:
28 October 2011
Length of service as a director
(as at 30 June 2012):
12 years
Board Committee(s) served on:
Nominating Committee (Member)
Compensation and Share Option
Committee (Member)
Present Directorships (as at 30 June 2012):
Listed companies
Keppel Land Limited (Chairman)
Keppel Corporation Limited (CEO)
Other principal directorships
Keppel Offshore & Marine Ltd (Chairman)
Keppel Energy Pte Ltd (Chairman)
Keppel Land China Limited (Chairman)

Board of Directors

Major Appointments (other than
directorships):
Singapore’s Non-Resident Ambassador
to Brazil
Det Norske Veritas South East Asia
Committee (Chairman)
Energy Studies Institute (Board Member)
American Bureau of Shipping
(Council Member)
American Bureau of Shipping’s Southeast
Asia Regional Committee (Member)
Special Committee on Mobile Offshore
Drilling Units (Member)
Asean Council on Petroleum (ASCOPE)
(Council Member)
Singapore University of Technology and
Design (Member of the Board of Trustee)
Past Directorships held over the
preceding 5 years (from 1 July 2007
to 30 June 2012):
Keppel Norway AS
Maritime and Port Authority of Singapore
Singapore Maritime Foundation Limited
Singapore Petroleum Company
Singapore Reﬁning Company
SMRT Corporation Ltd
SMRT Buses Ltd
SMRT Light Rail Pte Ltd
SMRT Road Holdings Ltd
SMRT Trains Ltd
Nanyang Business School Advisory Board
Others:
Conferred the Meritorious Service
Award in 2008
Conferred the NTUC Medal of
Commendation (Gold) Award in May 2007
Conferred the Public Service Star Award
(BBM) in August 2004

LEE SUAN YEW, 78
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
MBBChir from Cambridge University, Fellow
of the Royal College of Physicians, Glasgow
Date of ﬁrst appointment as a director:
8 August 2002
Date of last re-election as a director:
28 October 2011
Length of service as a director
(as at 30 June 2012):
9 years 11 months
Board Committee(s) served on:
Nominating Committee (Chairman)
Present Directorships (as at 30 June 2012):
Listed companies
Haw Par Corporation Ltd
Other principal directorships
LSYPCL66 Pte Ltd
Major Appointments (other than
directorships):
Justice of Peace
Past Directorships held over the
preceding 5 years (from 1 July 2007
to 30 June 2012):
Board of Singapore General Hospital
Hotel Properties Ltd
Others:
Conferred the Public Service Star in 1991
Conferred Public Service Star (Bar) in 2002
Past President of the Singapore
Medical Council
Past Chairman of the National Medical
Ethics Committee
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TEO SOON HOE, 63

YONG PUNG HOW, 86

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Bachelor of Business Administration,
University of Singapore
Member of the Wharton Society of Fellows,
University of Pennsylvania

INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
BA, LI B and MA of Cambridge University
LI D (Honorary) of National University of
Singapore
PhD (Honorary) of La Salle University of the
Philippines
LI D (Honorary) of Singapore Management
University
AMP of the Harvard Business School
Barrister at Law of the Inner Temple and
Honorary Bencher
Advocate and Solicitor, Malaysia and Singapore
Fellow of the Malaysian Institute of
Management

Date of ﬁrst appointment as a director:
25 January 1988
Date of last re-election as a director:
15 October 2010
Length of service as a director
(as at 30 June 2012):
24 years 6 months
Board Committee(s) served on:
Audit Committee (Member)
Present Directorships (as at 30 June 2012):
Listed companies
Keppel Corporation Limited
Keppel Telecommunications &
Transportation Ltd (Chairman)
M1 Limited (Chairman)
Keppel Philippines Holding Inc (Chairman)
Keppel Land Limited
Keppel Infrastructure Fund Management Pte
Ltd (the Trustee-Manager of K-Green Trust)
Other principal directorships
Keppel Offshore & Marine Ltd
Keppel Energy Pte Ltd
Singapore Tianjin Eco-City Investment
Holdings Pte. Ltd.
Kepel Land China Limited
Major Appointments (other than
directorships):
Nil
Past Directorships held over the
preceding 5 years (from 1 July 2007
to 30 June 2012):
Singapore Petroleum Company Limited
Travelmore Pte Ltd

Date of ﬁrst appointment as a director:
25 September 2006
Date of last re-election as a director:
28 October 2011
Length of service as a director
(as at 30 June 2012):
5 years 10 months

Past Directorships held over the
preceding 5 years (from 1 July 2007
to 30 June 2012):
Singapore Press Holdings Limited
Others:
Conferred the Distinguished Service
Order in 1989 and Singapore’s highest
award the Order of Temasek (First Class)
in 1999
Former Chief Justice of Singapore
1990–2006
Former Chairman of the Presidential
Council for Minority Rights
Former Managing Director of the
Monetary Authority of Singapore
Former Chairman and CEO of OCBC
Bank Limited

Board Committee(s) served on:
Compensation and Share Option Committee
(Member)
Present Directorships (as at 30 June 2012):
Listed companies
Nil
Other principal directorships
Nil
Major Appointments (other than
directorships):
Member of the Council of Presidential
Advisers
Chancellor of Singapore Management
University

Others:
Former Group Finance Director of Keppel
Corporation Limited
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JEFFREY ALAN SAFCHIK, 61
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, CHIEF FINANCIAL
OFFICER, CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER
Bachelors degree in Business Administration
(majoring in Accountancy) from Pace University,
New York
Masters degree in Taxation from St. John’s
University, New York
Date of ﬁrst appointment as a director:
7 May 2010
Date of last re-election as a director:
15 October 2010
Length of service as a director
(as at 30 June 2012):
2 years 2 months
Board Committee(s) served on:
Nil
Present Directorships (as at 30 June 2012):
Listed companies
Nil
Other principal directorships
Beach Investment Partners, Inc
D.L. Enterprises, Inc.
Green Family Foundation, Inc.
KC Propco Holding II LLC (Managing
Director/CEO)
Green Family Holdings, Inc (President)
Greenstreet Capital Management, Inc
(President)
Greenstreet Capital Partners, LLC (President)
Greenstreet Equity Partners, LLC (President)
Greenstreet Management Partners, Inc
(President)
GRST Realty Management Partners, LLC
(President)
GS Maritime Holding, LLC
GS/Patronis Group, Inc.
GS/Patronis, Inc.
K-1 Holdings Equity I, Inc.
KLC Realty Holdings LLC (CEO)

Board of Directors

KLC Realty LLC (CEO)
KLC Realty, Inc (CEO)
Knowledge Learning Corporation
Knowledge Schools LLC
KU Education, Inc.
Knowledge Universe Holdings LLC
Knowledge Universe Learning Group LLC
Long Haul Holding Corp
Canadian International School Pte Ltd
Major Appointments (other than
directorships):
Green Family Foundation (Member of the
Board of Trustee)
Chairman of the University of Miami,
Department of Pediatrics Children’s Council
Past Directorships held over the
preceding 5 years (from 1 July 2007
to 30 June 2012):
Cardean Learning Group, LLC
K-1 USA Ventures, Inc

MASROOR TAALE SIDDIQUI, 41
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
Master’s degree in Management, Yale University
Bachelor’s degree, University of Pennsylvania
Date of ﬁrst appointment as a director:
19 November 2010
Date of last re-election as a director:
28 October 2011
Length of service as a director
(as at 30 June 2012):
1 year 8 months
Board Committee(s) served on:
Compensation and Share Option Committee
(Chairman)
Audit Committee (Member)
Present Directorships (as at 30 June 2012):
Listed companies
Nil
Other principal directorships
Naya (GP) Ltd
Naya Fund
Major Appointments (other than
directorships):
Nil
Past Directorships held over the
preceding 5 years (from 1 July 2007
to 30 June 2012):
Managing Director at Canyon Partners
Others:
Ranked as an “All-Star Analyst” by
Institutional Investor, Greenwich Associates
and Reuters
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ALEXANDER VAHABZADEH, 47
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
BBA in International Business, George
Washington University
Date of ﬁrst appointment as a director:
16 February 2011
Date of last re-election as a director:
28 October 2011
Length of service as a director
(as at 30 June 2012):
1 year 5 months
Board Committee(s) served on:
Nil
Present Directorships (as at 30 June 2012):
Listed companies
Nil
Other principal directorships
BV Asset Management Limited
BV Global Partners Ltd.
BV Investment Holdings Limited
BV Private Equity Holdings Ltd.
BV Private Equity Ltd.
BV Singapore Holdings Limited
BV Singapore Investments Limited
BV Uniﬁed Singapore Holdings Limited
BV Ventures Ltd.
McLean Alternative Enhanced Fund Ltd.
McLean Market Neutral Fund Ltd.
Peracon, Inc.
SAFANAD SA
SAFANAD Limited
SAFANAD Management Limited
SAFANAD Master Fund GP Limited
Major Appointments (other than
directorships):
Co-founder and managing partner
of SAFANAD

Past Directorships held over the
preceding 5 years (from 1 July 2007
to 30 June 2012):
BV-NGP Equity I Ltd.
BV-NGP Equity II Ltd.
BV-NGP Equity III Ltd.
BV-NGP Equity IV Ltd.
BV-NGP Equity V Ltd.
BV-NGP Equity VI Ltd.
BV-NGP Finance I Ltd.
BV-NGP Finance II Ltd.
BV-NGP Finance III Ltd.
BV-NGP Holdings Inc.
BV-P Holding I, Ltd.

NEO BOON SIONG, 55
INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
Certiﬁed Public Accountant (Singapore)
Bachelor of Accountancy (Honours),
the National University of Singapore
MBA and PhD degrees from the University
of Pittsburgh, USA
Completed executive programmes at the
Harvard Business School, Sloan School of
Management, MIT, and Cornell Hotel School
Date of ﬁrst appointment as a director:
16 February 2011
Date of last re-election as a director:
28 October 2011
Length of service as a director
(as at 30 June 2012):
1 year 5 months
Board Committee(s) served on:
Audit Committee (Chairman)
Nominating Committee (Member)
Present Directorships (as at 30 June 2012):
Listed companies
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
Keppel Telecommunications &
Transportation Ltd
Other principal directorships:
J Lauritzen Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Major Appointments (other than
directorships):
Professor of the Nanyang Business School,
Nanyang Technological University
Past Directorships held over the
preceding 5 years (from 1 July 2007
to 30 June 2012):
Keppel Offshore & Marine Ltd
Great Eastern Holdings Limited
The Great Eastern Life Assurance
Company Limited
The Overseas Assurance Corporation Limited
English XChange Pte. Ltd.
Others:
Former Dean of the Nanyang Business
School, Nanyang Technological University
(NTU), Singapore
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The management team at k1 Ventures strives to deliver
good returns to the Company’s shareholders using its
wealth of expertise and experience, strong investment
skill sets and extensive business relationships.

1.

STEVEN JAY GREEN
CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

2.

JEFFREY ALAN SAFCHIK
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR,
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND
CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

Senior Management
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EXPERTISE

VALUE-ADD

OPERATING &
FINANCIAL REVIEW
k1 Ventures is a diversiﬁed investment company invested
across targeted sectors including transportation leasing,
education, oil and gas exploration, ﬁnancial services and
automotive retail.

CONTENTS
15 Management Discussion and Analysis
16 Transportation Leasing
20 Education
22 Other Investments
25 Review of Balance Sheet

The companies in which k1 Ventures has invested
provide a range of products and services to a broad
spectrum of customers in several geographic locations,
and no single factor will determine the Group’s ﬁnancial
condition or the proﬁtability of its operations.
In this operating and ﬁnancial review, we seek to provide
a market and business overview of k1 Ventures’ major
investments and its ﬁnancial performance.
This review also describes the key activities of its
businesses and their impact on the company’s
performance and ﬁnancial condition.
This discussion and analysis is based on k1 Ventures’
consolidated ﬁnancial statements as at 30 June 2012.
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OPERATING & FINANCIAL REVIEW

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Key Performance Indicators
2012
$ million

Revenue
Raw materials and consumables used
Staff costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Fixed assets impairment loss
Goodwill impairment loss
Other intangibles impairment loss
Other operating expenses
Operating loss
Finance expenses
Loss before tax
EBITDA *
Proﬁt/(loss) attributable to shareholders of the Company
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (EPS) (cents)
Return on equity (ROE) **(%)

78.7
(3.6)
(9.1)
(30.0)
(18.3)
(43.5)
(11.9)
(20.6)
(58.7)
(11.2)
(60.6)
54.3
11.9
0.55
3.3

2011
$ million

71.2
(9.9)
(9.9)
(32.8)
(3.5)
–
–
(19.8)
(4.7)
(7.8)
(4.8)
39.2
(4.7)
(0.22)
(1.3)

% Increase/
(Decrease)

10.5
(63.3)
(8.2)
(8.6)
428.9
n.m.
n.m.
4.0
>500
43.9
>500
38.3
n.m.
n.m.
n.m.

*

EBITDA is deﬁned as proﬁt before tax, ﬁnance expenses, depreciation and amortisation, ﬁxed assets impairment loss, goodwill impairment loss and other
intangibles impairment loss.
** ROE is based on proﬁt/(loss) after tax and non-controlling interests divided by average shareholders’ funds.

Group revenue of $78.7 million for the
year ended 30 June 2012 was $7.5 million
more than the previous year, due to an
increase in revenue from investments
offset in part by a decrease in revenue
from transportation leasing-related
activities. Revenue from investment
activities increased $18.2 million
mainly due to investment income of
$10.6 million and $9.9 million from the
Group’s investments in Guggenheim
and KUH respectively. Revenue from
transportation leasing-related activities
of $57.1 million was $10.7 million
lower than the previous year due to
non-recurring railcar end-of-lease
earnings received in the previous year,
and lower net gains from equipment
and parts sales in the current year.
Group operating loss was $58.7 million
for the year ended 30 June 2012
compared to a loss of $4.7 million in the
previous year, and at the pre-tax level
Group loss was $60.6 million for the
year compared to a loss of $4.8 million
in the previous year. The decline in pretax results was driven by the impairment
of goodwill and other intangibles of

Operating & Financial Review
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$55.4 million on Helm, the ﬁxed assets
impairment loss of $18.3 million, and a
decrease in revenue from transportation
related activities offset in part by an
increase in revenue from investments.
Group EBITDA of $54.3 million increased
by 38.3% compared to the previous year
driven by revenue from investments.
Finance expenses increased by
$3.4 million due to an increase in
borrowing costs related to Helm. Group
foreign exchange gain of $119,000 was
the result of the strengthening of the
US dollar during the period.
During the current year, there was
a write-back of prior years’ Group
tax provisions of $44.4 million in
addition to a Group tax beneﬁt of
$11.4 million related to the ﬁxed
assets impairment loss and other
intangible impairment loss.
Net proﬁt attributable to shareholders
was $11.9 million for the year ended
30 June 2012 compared to a loss of
$4.7 million in the previous year.
Earnings per share was 0.55 cents.
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TRANSPORTATION LEASING: Helm has been impacted by
economic volatility in US markets and continued weakness
in demand for its six-axle locomotive ﬂeet.

MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS IN 2012
– Ended the year with
US$13.6 million in
available cash and net
debt of US$104.9 million
– Non-cash goodwill
impairment loss of
US$47.4 million calculated
in conformance with
U.S. GAAP; US$34.5 million
when IFRS standards
are applied
– Non-cash locomotive
equipment impairment loss
of US$15.6 million under
U.S. GAAP; US$14.5 million
under IFRS standards
– Capital commitment to an
approximately US$50-million
rebuild programme for 102
GP38-2 locomotives with a
Class I Railroad
– Purchased a total of 711
railcars and 10 four-axle
locomotives for a
total consideration
of US$23.0 million
– 10% increase in the number
of locomotives on term leases
– Railcar utilisation increased
from 85.0% in June 2011
to 93.0% in June 2012,
and the quantity of railcars
on lease has increased
from 4,109 to 4,593 during
the year
– Proceeds of US$18.2 million
and net gains of US$4.1 million
from the opportunistic sale of
rail equipment
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OVERVIEW
The Group acquired 80.1% of the
issued shares in Helm at a cash
consideration of US$110.5 million
along with the Helm management
team acquiring 19.9% for
US$27 million on 8 July 2005. The
balance of the acquisition cost
was funded by US$333 million in
term ﬁnancing.
Established in 1980 and headquartered
in San Francisco, Helm is one of
the largest independent rail equipment
leasing companies in North America.
Helm uses its nationwide network of
professionals to purchase, refurbish
and service rail equipment for
customers in North America.
Helm and its subsidiaries are primarily
engaged in the business of:
(i) Leasing rail equipment to railroads
and other end-users;
(ii) Leasing and brokering equipment
for others;

(iii) Remarketing previously leased
equipment; and
(iv) Buying and selling rail equipment
and parts in the resale market.
Helm is also the managing partner
of two joint ventures, Helm-Paciﬁc
Leasing (HPL), a joint venture with
Union Paciﬁc Corporation, and Helm
Chesapeake (HCLP), a joint venture
with CSX Corporation and Diamond
Rail Lease Corporation (subsidiary of
Mitsubishi Corporation). The primary
business of each joint venture is the
acquisition and leasing of rail
equipment to railroads and other
end-users.
In June 2012, HPL reﬁnanced its
previous revolving credit facility
with a new US$150-million senior
secured revolving credit facility with
a syndicated group of lenders. The
new credit facility provides ﬁnancing
for equipment-related investments
through to June 2017.
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1. As at 30 June 2012, Helm’s ﬂeet comprised
550 locomotives and 5,162 railcars.

Earnings Highlights
2012
$ million

Revenue
EBITDA
Fixed assets impairment loss
Goodwill impairment loss
Other intangibles impairment loss
Operating loss
Finance expenses
Share of results of associated
company and joint ventures
Loss before tax

Operating & Financial Review
Transportation Leasing

2011
$ million

57.1
37.9
(18.3)
(43.5)
(11.9)
(74.9)
(11.2)
9.2

67.8
42.9
(3.5)
–
–
(2.7)
(7.8)
9.3

(77.0)

(1.1)

2. Moving forward, Helm is focused
on the rationalisation of its ﬂeet of
six-axle locomotives as well as overall
ﬂeet management.
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SOURCES OF REVENUE
Helm’s largest customers are primarily
investment grade companies including
Class I railroads, industrial shippers and
regional railroads.
Helm has four primary sources
of revenue:
– Lease revenue from its ﬂeet of
locomotives and railcars – Helm
buys rail assets, refurbishes
them to marketable condition,
if necessary (via outside service
providers) and then leases them
into the market place.
– Sales of locomotives, railcars, rail
equipment and related parts –
Helm sells its refurbished rail
assets when opportunistic and
strategically proﬁtable for the
long-term strength of the company.
In addition, Helm maintains and
markets an extensive inventory of
locomotive components and is also
active in buying scrap locomotives
and selling individual parts for proﬁt.
– Equity in the earnings of associated
company and joint ventures – Helm’s
associated company and joint
ventures contributed approximately
$9.2 million of pre-tax proﬁt to the
Group during the ﬁnancial year.
Helm manages the rail assets for
both HPL and HCLP and owns
a 38% interest in Metro East
Industries, Inc.
– Management and marketing of
third-party assets – Helm manages
a diverse ﬂeet of railcars owned
by third parties, including its joint
ventures. Management services
include marketing, billing and
collections, logistics management,
repair management and cost
negotiations, and end-of-lease
inspections.
For the ﬁnancial year ended
30 June 2012, Helm contributed
revenue and EBITDA of $57.1 million
and $37.9 million respectively to
the Group.
HELM’S LOCOMOTIVE AND
RAILCAR FLEET
Helm’s lease revenue is contractual,
with the majority of its rail assets under
operating leases with initial terms
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ranging from one month to seven
years. Under its lease agreements,
Helm retains legal ownership of the
rail equipment.
As at 30 June 2012, Helm’s ﬂeet
consisted of 550 locomotives (including
approximately 90 held for sale units,
which were determined to be impaired)
and 5,162 railcars. In addition,
Helm manages an additional ﬂeet of
8,119 railcars, 79 locomotives, and
1,259 autoracks as a result of its 50%
ownership in Helm-Paciﬁc Leasing and a
36% ownership in Helm Chesapeake LP.
OPERATING REVIEW
The continued weakness in the
six-axle locomotive leasing market,
which is attributable to the sluggish
recovery of the US economy, has
negatively impacted demand for Helm’s
equipment. As a result of certain group
of locomotive assets remaining idle
over an extended period of time, a ﬁxed
assets impairment loss was recorded
during the period driven by the inability
to place the equipment on lease.
Helm is focused on the evaluation of
alternatives for the rationalisation of the
off-lease ﬂeet of six-axle locomotives,
as well as overall ﬂeet management.
Helm has begun to experience higher
railcar utilisation with longer term
leases. In addition, during the year
ended 30 June 2012, Helm committed
to an approximately US$50-million
rebuild programme for 102 GP38-2
locomotives with a Class I Railroad,
whereby the customer will commence
leasing the refurbished four-axle
locomotives over either a ﬁve-, six-, or
seven-year lease term upon delivery of
the locomotives.

As a result, Helm is able to generate
incremental cash ﬂow and reduce
overhead by eliminating maintenance
costs on the divested equipment. Helm’s
EBITDA of $37.9 million decreased by
11.7% as compared to the previous year.
The decrease in year-on-year operating
results was principally due to goodwill
and other intangibles impairment loss of
$55.4 million, a ﬁxed assets impairment
loss of $18.3 million, and a decrease in
revenue. Helm’s goodwill impairment
loss of $43.5 million resulted from a
decline in enterprise value, which is
in conformity with the value provided
by an independent third party as part
of Helm’s annual impairment review.
Helm’s ﬁxed assets impairment loss
in the current year of $18.3 million was
due to the write-down of approximately
230 locomotives. The ﬁxed assets
impairment loss and other intangibles
impairment loss were offset by an
associated tax beneﬁt of $11.4 million
in the current year.
Finance expenses increased by
$3.4 million compared to the
previous year due to an increase
in borrowing costs related to the
June 2011 reﬁnancing.
The Group’s share of results of
associated company and joint
ventures was in line with the previous
year, excluding the impact from
currency exchange ﬂuctuations.

Revenue from Helm was lower than
the previous year due to non-recurring
railcar end-of-lease earnings received
in the previous year and lower net
gains from equipment and parts sales
in the current year offset in part by an
increase in railcar leasing revenue from
term leases driven by an increase in
railcar utilisation. Helm continues to
proactively rationalise its locomotive and
railcar ﬂeet by selling assets that are no
longer suitable for long-term service.
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3

1, 2. Helm maintains and markets an extensive
inventory of locomotive components.
3.
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The Morton Salt Covered Hopper is a type
of railcar within the diverse ﬂeet of railcars
which Helm manages.
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EDUCATION: Knowledge Universe Holdings continues to
expand its international footprint with key acquisitions in
high-growth markets, while remaining focused on the
performance of its existing operating companies.

1

KNOWLEDGE UNIVERSE HOLDINGS
The Group owns a 12.2% equity
interest in Knowledge Universe
Holdings, LLC (KUH), which is a
holding company that has various
interests in education-related ventures
including an approximate 65% interest
in Knowledge Universe Education
LP (KUE), the Group’s global education
platform. The Group’s equity interest
in KUH, was acquired at a cost of
approximately US$57 million. In
prior years, the Group recorded cash
and property distributions received
from KUH as a reduction to the
investment’s carrying cost. During
the current year, the Group received
US$8 million in distributions from
KUH, which exceeded the reduced
carrying cost of the investment of
US$4.8 million at 30 June 2011,
and accounted for these distributions
as income in the current year. The
carrying value of the KUH investment
remains unchanged from the end
of FY2011.
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In February 2012, KUH sold its minority
equity interest in Jurlique International
Pty Limited (Jurlique) for approximately
US$29 million. Jurlique is a business
focused on selling skin care and other
related beauty products. The Group’s
distributions received from KUH
in 2012 included its pro rata share
of net proceeds as a result of the sale
of Jurlique.
KNOWLEDGE UNIVERSE EDUCATION LP
KUE is a leading global education
company with a network of more than
3,000 locations worldwide, employing
over 40,000 education professionals,
operating early childhood education
centres, international schools, large online schools and school management
systems, which together touch over
300,000 students daily.
KUE employs more than 900
professionals and maintains its
international headquarters in Singapore.
KUE’s international platform

encompasses over 200 locations in
Singapore, Malaysia, India and the
UK primarily operating under the
brands Busy Bees, Learning Vision,
Learning Horizon, Pat’s School House,
The Children’s House and Canadian
International School (Singapore).
Construction of the new state-of-the-art
$140-million Canadian International
School Lakeside Campus in Jurong,
Singapore was completed in
March 2012.
In August 2011, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of KUE acquired Brighton
Montessori Centres Pte Ltd. Brighton
Montessori is an early childhood
education company operating
four centres in Singapore with
approximately 280 enrolled students
and 50 employees, operating primarily
under the name Brighton Montessori
International.
In December 2011, Busy Bees Holdings
Limited (UK), a majority-owned
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subsidiary of KUE, acquired 100%
of Early Years Childcare Limited (UK),
a child care group with nine locations
and approximately 650 students.
This acquisition increased Busy
Bees’ position in the market as the
largest UK childcare group with
more than 146 operating centres,
employing over 4,600 professionals
and offering education to over
8,000 students.
KNOWLEDGE UNIVERSE
EDUCATION LLC
Knowledge Universe Education LLC
(KUE LLC) is a wholly-owned subsidiary
of KUE. KUE LLC was founded in 1983
and offers early childhood education
programmes to children ranging
from six weeks through 12 years of
age. The services provided include
infant and toddler care, preschool and
kindergarten classes and before- and
after- school programmes. KUE LLC
provides education and care
programmes within the following
three categories:
– Early Childhood Care and
Education, which provides early
childhood care and education
services through approximately
1,600 centres with a licensed
capacity of over 200,000 in
38 states
– Childrens’ Creative Learning
Centres, which encompasses
employer-sponsored early
childhood care and education
services through approximately
97 centres, eight before- and afterschool sites and four game-day
sites for professional sports teams,
which have a combined licensed
capacity of approximately 12,200
in 22 states
– School Partnerships, which provide
customised before- and afterschool educational enrichment
and recreational programmes for
school-age and preschool
children in partnership with
elementary schools under the
Champions brand.
KUE LLC primarily operates under the
brand names KinderCare, Knowledge
Beginnings, Cambridge Schools,
Children’s Creative Learning

Operating & Financial Review
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Centres, and Champions.
KUE LLC’s community-based
centres offer educational and
enrichment programmes, beforeand after- school programmes,
summer camps and clubs, and
academic online tutoring. KUE LLC
also offers infant and toddler care,
preschool and kindergarten classes
as well as supplemental education
services on an individual
student basis.

and the world’s best teaching
methods. It offers programmes
in six core subjects (Language, Arts,
Math, History, Science, Art and Music)
from kindergarten to year 12.

K12, INC.
At 30 June 2012, KUE indirectly
owned 4,665,083 million common
shares and 2,750,000 convertible
Series A non-voting shares of K12,
Inc (NYSE: LRN). Upon conversion
of the Series A shares, KUE will
indirectly own approximately 7.4 million
common shares of K12, Inc., which
represents approximately 20% of the
outstanding shares and valued at
approximately US$170 million on
30 June 2012.
K12 delivers curriculum and
instructional tools to parents to
assist their children with solid homebased supplemental education.
K12’s programme combines online
technology with traditional content

1. Knowledge Universe Education specialises
in providing quality early childhood education
programmes including infant and toddler
care, preschool and kindergarten classes
and before-and after-school programmes.
2. The Knowledge Universe Holdings Group
caters to the everyday educational needs of
300,000 students around the world.
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OTHER INVESTMENTS: k1 Ventures identiﬁed investments
based on an opportunity for value creation.

1

OIL AND GAS EXPLORATION
MCMORAN EXPLORATION COMPANY
McMoRan Exploration Company (MMR)
is an independent publicly traded
company (NYSE: MMR) engaged in
the exploration, development and
production of oil and natural gas in the
shallow waters of the Gulf of Mexico
Shelf and onshore in the Gulf Coast area
of the US.
The Group owns 2,309,000 shares of
common stock in MMR. The MMR share
price decreased 31% during the year
driven by several factors including
overall market volatility in the US, the
falling price of natural gas, as well as
the risk and cost associated with ultradeep well drilling.
MMR’s ﬁrst half 2012 results provided
lower-than-expected productions driven
by unplanned downtime for repairs to
platforms and third-party pipelines
and weather-related shipping delays.
MMR continues to develop and test
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prospective wells in order to conﬁrm the
extent of available reserves.
FINANCIAL SERVICES
GUGGENHEIM CAPITAL, LLC
In June 2011, the Group completed a
US$100-million investment in
Guggenheim Capital, LLC (Guggenheim),
a US-based, privately held ﬁnancial
services ﬁrm with more than
US$100 billion in assets under
management. The US$100-million
investment comprised 100,000 Series
A Preferred Units (Preferred Units),
250,000 Common Units, and 11,111,111
Warrants to acquire common units
issued by Guggenheim.
Guggenheim provides investment
management, investment banking
and capital markets services as
well as insurance and investment
advisory solutions for institutions,
corporations, governments and
agencies, investment advisors, family
ofﬁces and individuals.

The Preferred Units, which are senior
to all common equity in terms of
liquidation preference, delivers a
dividend rate of 7% per annum along
with participation rights on an asconverted basis in common dividends
in excess of regular periodic dividends.
The Preferred Units may be redeemed
by Guggenheim at par value with full
payment of any accumulated unpaid
dividends. In addition, k1 Ventures also
retains the right to require Guggenheim
to repurchase all or any portion of the
Preferred Units on the sixth anniversary
of issuance, at par value with full
payment of any accumulated
unpaid dividends.

1, 2. The investment by k1 Ventures enables
Guggenheim Capital to further expand its
ﬁnancial services business.
3.

MMR continues to drill high-potential
exploratory wells in the shallow waters
of the Gulf of Mexico.
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In connection with the Guggenheim
investment, the Group received
250,000 Common Units. Absent
a conversion of the Warrants, the
Common Units cannot be sold prior
to 30 June 2017 without the approval
of Guggenheim.

1

The 11,111,111 Warrants to acquire
common units are convertible at an
exercise price of US$9 per unit. k1
Ventures may elect to convert the
Warrants at any time, and also has
the right to require Guggenheim to
repurchase all or any portion of the
Warrants at their fair market value
on the sixth anniversary of issuance.
The Warrants may also be redeemed
by Guggenheim under certain
circumstances, and k1 has the right
to require Guggenheim to repurchase
any common units issued upon
exercise of the Warrants under certain
circumstances at the fair
market value of such units.
During the year ended 30 June 2012,
the Group received cash dividends
from Guggenheim of approximately
US$7.1 million.
In December 2011, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Guggenheim acquired
EquiTrust Life Insurance Company
(EquiTrust). EquiTrust joined
Guggenheim’s insurance business
unit, which provides insurance-related
ﬁnancial services to institutional and
retail customers.
In February 2012, Guggenheim
completed the ﬁnal phase of its Security
Beneﬁt restructuring plan by acquiring
Security Beneﬁt Asset Management
Holdings (SBAMH), an afﬁliate of
Security Beneﬁt Corp. SBAMH is the
parent company of Rydex|SGI (Rydex),
which manages assets through mutual
funds, ETFs and other products.
Rydex was rebranded under the
Guggenheim name.
AUTOMOTIVE RETAIL
CHINA AUTO I CO-INVESTORS LLC
k1 has invested a total of approximately
US$12.4 million in China Auto I CoInvestors LLC, a private investment
vehicle formed to co-invest indirectly
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in Guanghui Automobile (China
Grand Auto).
Headquartered in Shanghai, China,
China Grand Auto is the largest auto
dealership group in China operating
a network of nearly 400 stores
across China.
In 2011, China Grand Auto sold more
than 400,000 automobiles and was
ranked as the top automobile dealer in
China by revenues. China Grand Auto
has ﬁled for an initial public offering to
list on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
DIVERSIFIED
CHRYSCAPITAL LLC
ChrysCapital, LLC (ChrysCapital) is
a private investment ﬁrm focused
on growth-oriented, India-based
companies. k1 invested in two of
ChrysCapital’s funds, ChrysCapital II
and ChrysCapital III, in 2000 and
2004 respectively.
To date, k1 has realised a return of
1.6 times invested capital on its
US$3-million investment in
ChrysCapital II and 3.5 times invested
capital on its US$5-million investment
in ChrysCapital III. The majority of the
portfolio investments within both funds

have already been realised, and we
expect the remaining investments
to be managed to maximise value in
due course.
NZC GUGGENHEIM FUND
NZC Guggenheim Fund (NZC) is a
feeder fund of NZC Guggenheim Master
Fund, which is a diversiﬁed investment
fund organised for the purpose of
trading and investing in a diverse range
of investment securities. The Group
received a 0.53% interest in NZC as
a distribution from KUH. During the
current year, the Group received cash
distributions from the fund totalling
approximately US$0.7 million.
MIDOCEAN CREDIT OPPORTUNITY
OFFSHORE FUND
MidOcean Credit Opportunity Offshore
Fund (MCOF) is a feeder fund of
MidOcean Credit Opportunity Master
Fund, which was organised for the
purpose of trading and investing in
various securities. The Group received a
0.71% interest in MCOF as a distribution
from KUH.

1. China Grand Auto has a network of 400
dealership stores across China, including
in the city of Dalian, Liaoning Province in
Northeast China.
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REVIEW OF BALANCE SHEET
Group shareholders’ funds decreased
from $339.0 million at 30 June 2011
to $338.7 million at 30 June 2012. The
principal movements in shareholders’
funds were due to a dividend distribution
to shareholders of $10.8 million in
November 2011 offset by net proﬁt
for the year of $11.9 million.
The proﬁt for the year ended
30 June 2012 was primarily the result
of a write-back of previous years’ tax
provision of $44.4 million and revenues
from investment activities of
$21.6 million offset by an impairment
loss on goodwill and other intangibles
of $55.4 million and a ﬁxed assets
impairment loss of $18.3 million
associated with the write-down of rail
equipment available for lease at Helm.
A downward revaluation of the Group’s
investment in MMR was reduced by an
unrealised currency translation gain
resulting from the strengthening of the
US dollar in the amount of $9.3 million.
Group total assets of $624.7 million at
30 June 2012 were $73.0 million less
than at 30 June 2011. The decrease
in total assets was mainly due to the
above-mentioned goodwill impairment
and ﬁxed assets impairment loss, the
dividend distribution to shareholders,
and the downward revaluation of the
Group’s investment in MMR. The ﬁxed
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assets impairment loss was attributable
to the continued weakness in the sixaxle locomotive leasing market, which
resulted in the rail assets remaining idle
over an extended period. Impairment
of goodwill on Helm resulted from a
decline in enterprise value, which is in
conformity with the value provided by
an independent third party as part of
Helm’s annual impairment review.
In previous years, the Group recorded
cash distributions received from KUH
as a reduction to the investment’s
carrying cost. During the year ended
30 June 2012, the Group received
$9.9 million in distributions from KUH,
which exceeded the reduced carrying
cost of the investment of $5.9 million
at 30 June 2011, and has accounted for
these distributions as income in the
current year. The carrying value of the
KUH investment remains unchanged
from the previous year’s end.
Group total liabilities of $254.7 million
at 30 June 2012 were $62.7 million
lower than the previous year end
mainly due to a decrease in provision
for taxation and deferred taxation.
This includes the write-back of prior
years’ provisions of $44.4 million.
After reviewing the tax affairs of the
Group, the management is of the view
that it is appropriate to write-back the
tax provision, as it is no longer required.
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE

k1’s Board of Directors, led by Chairman Mr Steven Jay Green, actively engages shareholders at Annual General Meetings so that shareholders have a good
understanding of k1’s businesses.

The Board and Management of
k1 Ventures Limited (the “Company”)
are committed to maintaining a high
standard of corporate governance,
and ﬁrmly believe that a genuine
commitment to good corporate
governance is essential to the
sustainability of the Company’s business
and performance. Accordingly, the
Company is committed to ensure
that effective self-regulatory corporate
practices are in place to protect the
interests of its shareholders and
maximise long-term shareholder value.
In addition, the Company ensures
that the corporate practices it adopts
are driven by principles rather than
form, and takes into account the nature
of the Company’s existing businesses
and operations.

–

–

–

–

Approve and review appropriate
strategic plans, key operational
and ﬁnancial matters, major
investments and divestments and
funding decisions;
Oversee the business and affairs of
the Company, including monitoring
the performance of management;
Oversee processes for evaluating
the adequacy of internal controls,
risk management, ﬁnancial
reporting and compliance, and
satisfy itself as to the adequacy of
such processes; and
Assume responsibility for corporate
governance.

Effective Board to lead and control
the Company

The Board is scheduled to meet every
quarter. In addition, ad hoc nonscheduled Board meetings may be
convened when necessary to deliberate
on urgent substantive matters, and
telephonic attendance and conferences
via audio-visual communication at Board
meetings are allowed under Article 112A
of the Company’s Articles of Association.
To assist the Board in the discharge
of its oversight function, various
Board Committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Nominating Committee
and the Compensation and Share
Option Committee, were constituted
with clear written terms of reference.
The Board and Board Committees
also rely on circular resolutions and

The principal functions of the Board of
Directors are to:

1

The following describes the
Company’s corporate governance
practices that were in place or
implemented during the ﬁnancial
year ended 30 June 2012 with
speciﬁc reference to the principles
set out in the Code of Corporate
Governance 2005 (the “Code of
Corporate Governance”)1.
BOARD MATTERS
Principle 1:
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discussions conducted via telephonic
and other forms of correspondence in
the discharge of their duties.
All new investments, divestments,
commitment to loans and lines of credit
from banks and ﬁnancial institutions
require the approval of the Board.
The Directors will, where necessary,
receive appropriate training on
directors’ duties and responsibilities to
assist them in carrying out their
expected roles and responsibilities. The
Directors are provided with a Director’s
tool kit containing information on
directors’ duties, relevant Companies
Act and Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (“SGX”) Listing Manual
requirements, and the Company’s
governance policies and practices. They
will also, where necessary, receive
appropriate training from time to time
on other matters which would help
them in the discharge of their duties as
a Director of the Board or as a member
of a Board Committee.
BOARD COMPOSITION AND BALANCE
Principle 2:

Strong and independent element
on the Board
The Company fully appreciates that
fundamental to good corporate

The Code of Corporate Governance 2005 issued by the Ministry of Finance on 14 July 2005.
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The number of Board and Board Committee meetings held during the ﬁnancial year, as well as the attendance of each Board
member, are disclosed as follows:
Board Committee Membership
Director

Steven Jay Green
Choo Chiau Beng
Lee Suan Yew
Teo Soon Hoe
Yong Pung How
Jeffrey Alan Safchik
Masroor Taale Siddiqui
Alexander Vahabzadeh
Neo Boon Siong
Ow Chio Kiat1
No. of Meetings Held

Board Meetings

Audit

Nominating

Compensation &
Share Option

5
3
4
5
3
5
5
5
4
0 out of 1
5

–
–
–
4
–
–
4
–
4
0 out of 1
4

–
1
3
–
–
–
–
–
2
0 out of 1
3

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
0

1. Mr Ow Chio Kiat ceased to be an independent Director as well as Chairman of the Audit Committee, Chairman of the Compensation and Share Option
Committee and member of the Nominating Committee with effect from 18 August 2011.

governance is an effective and robust
board whose members engage in
open and constructive debate. For this
to happen, the Board, in particular
the non-executive Directors, must be
kept well informed of the Company’s
businesses, investments and affairs.
Towards this end, the Company has
adopted initiatives to ensure that
the non-executive Directors are well
supported with accurate, complete
and timely information, and have
unrestricted access to Management.
These initiatives include the circulation
of relevant information on prospective
deals and potential developments at
an early stage whenever possible
before formal Board approval is sought,
as well as business initiatives, industry
developments and analyst and press
commentaries on matters in relation
to the Company and/or the industries
in which it operates. The non-executive
Directors do not normally meet without
the presence of Management, but
from time to time communicate via
telephonic conferences to discuss
issues relating to board processes,
corporate governance initiatives and
other matters to be discussed during
Board meetings.

2

The Directors believe that the
Board has sufﬁcient independent
Directors who can take a broader
view of the Company’s activities and
bring independent judgement to
bear on issues for the Board’s
consideration, particularly in view of
the nature of the Company’s business
and the complex transactions in which
it participates.
The Board currently consists of
nine Directors, seven of whom are
non-executive and out of whom four
are considered independent2 by the
Nominating Committee. The Nominating
Committee determines on an annual
basis whether or not a Director is
independent, bearing in mind the Code
of Corporate Governance’s deﬁnition of
who constitutes an independent Director
and guidance as to relationships the
existence of which would deem a
director not to be independent. In this
connection, the Nominating Committee
takes into account, among other
things, whether a director has business
relationships with the Company or
any of its related companies, and if
so, whether such relationships could
interfere, with the exercise of the

director’s independent judgement
with a view to the best interests of
the Company.
The Nominating Committee has
reafﬁrmed its view that the current
Board comprises persons who as a
group is representative of the principal
shareholders of the Company and
who are able to provide the core
competencies required for the Board to
be effective and to meet the Company’s
objectives. The Nominating Committee
is also of the view that, taking into
account the nature and scope of the
Company’s activities, a Board size of
nine members is appropriate.
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER
Principle 3:

Chairman and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
should in principle be separate persons
to ensure appropriate balance of power,
increased accountability and greater
capacity of the board for independent
decision-making
Mr Steven Jay Green is both the
Chairman and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
(“CEO”) of the Company. The Board

The Code of Corporate Governance deﬁnes an “independent” director as one who has no relationship with the company, its related companies or its ofﬁcers
that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the director’s independent business judgement with a view to the best
interests of the company. A related company in relation to a company includes its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries, or parent company.

Corporate Governance
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The nature of the current Directors’ appointments on the Board and details of their membership on Board Committees are set
out below:
Committee Membership
Director

Steven Jay Green
Choo Chiau Beng
Lee Suan Yew
Teo Soon Hoe
Yong Pung How
Jeffrey Alan Safchik
Masroor Taale Siddiqui
Alexander Vahabzadeh
Neo Boon Siong

Board Membership

Audit

Nominating

Compensation &
Share Option

Executive Chairman
Non-Executive
Independent
Non-Executive
Independent
Executive
Independent
Non-Executive
Independent

–
–
–
Member
–
–
Member
–
Chairman

–
Member
Chairman
–
–
–
–
–
Member

–
Member
–
–
Member
–
Chairman
–
–

conﬁrms that this has not unduly
concentrated power in the hands
of one individual or compromised
accountability and independent
decision-making. The Board is also of
the ﬁrm and unanimous view that it is
in the best interest of the Company to
continue to have an executive Chairman
so that the Board, and in particular
the non-executive Directors, can have
the beneﬁt of a Chairman who is
knowledgeable about the businesses
of the Company and is thereby better
able to guide discussions and ensure
that the Board is properly briefed
in a timely manner on pertinent issues
and developments, and at the same
time have the beneﬁt of objective and
independent views from the independent
Directors. The Board believes that it
is the person who ﬁlls the role that
matters, rather than whether the roles
are separate or combined per se.
In this connection, the Board has
considered that it is not necessary,
for the time being, to appoint a lead
independent director.

The executive Chairman monitors
compliance with the Company’s
corporate governance guidelines
and the ﬂow of information from
Management to the Board to ensure
that all material information is provided
in a timely manner to the Board for
the Board to make informed decisions.
In addition, he ensures that relevant
information on industry developments
and analyst and press commentaries on
matters in relation to the Company, its
investee companies or the industries in
which they operate is circulated to the
Board members so as to enable them
to be updated and thereby enhance
the effectiveness of the non-executive
Directors and the Board as a whole.

The executive Chairman, in consultation
with Management and the Company
Secretaries, schedules meetings and
prepares meeting agenda for the
Board to perform its duties responsibly
with regard to the Company’s business
activities. He ensures that adequate
time is available for discussion of all
agenda items, including strategic
issues, and encourages open
discussions and constructive relations
between the Board and Management.

The Company recognises fully that the
continual ﬂow of relevant information
on an accurate and timely basis is
critical for the Board to be effective
in the discharge of its duties. Board
papers are circulated to the Board as
early as practicable so that members
of the Board may better understand
the matters prior to the board meeting
and discussions may be focused on
questions that the Board has about
the board papers. However, sensitive
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ACCESS TO INFORMATION /
ACCOUNTABILITY
Principle 6:

Board members to have complete,
adequate and timely information

matters may be tabled at the meeting
itself or discussed without any papers
being distributed.
Management provides the Board with
management accounts on a monthly
basis to keep the Board informed of, on
a balanced and understandable basis,
the Group’s performance, position and
prospects. Such management accounts
consist of the consolidated proﬁt and
loss accounts, analysis of revenues,
operating proﬁt and attributable proﬁt
by major subsidiaries and associates
compared against the budgets, together
with explanations given for signiﬁcant
variances for the month and year-todate. Board members are also provided
with all relevant information on material
events and transactions accurately and
promptly as and when they arise, as well
as the Company’s funding position and
investment updates prior to each
Board meeting.

Principle 10:

The Board is accountable to shareholders;
management is accountable to the Board

The Board is committed to being open
and transparent in the conduct of the
Company’s affairs, whilst preserving the
commercial interests of the Company.
Financial results are reported on a
quarterly basis, and ﬁnancial reports
and other price-sensitive information are
disseminated to shareholders through
announcements via SGXNET to the SGX.
The Board has separate and
independent access to the Management
and the Company Secretaries at all
times. Should the Directors, whether
as a group or individually, require
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access to independent professional
advice in the furtherance of their duties,
the cost of such advice will be borne
by the Company.

c.

The appointment and the removal of the
Company Secretaries are subject to the
approval of the Board.

d.

BOARD MEMBERSHIP
NOMINATING COMMITTEE

f.

Principle 4:

The Nominating Committee (“NC”)
comprises three Directors, two of
whom (including the Chairman) are
independent Directors, namely, Dr Lee
Suan Yew (Chairman of the NC), Mr
Choo Chiau Beng and Professor Neo
Boon Siong. Mr Ow Chio Kiat stepped
down as a member of the NC with
effect from 18 August 2011. The NC
had three meetings during the ﬁnancial
year ended 30 June 2012, which were
attended by a majority of the members,
except for Mr Choo who attended
one meeting, Professor Neo who
attended two meetings, and Mr Ow who
did not attend the sole meeting which
was held prior to him stepping down as
a member of the NC.
The terms of reference of the NC
are as follows:

b.

and makes recommendations to the
Board as follows:
a.

b.

Formal and transparent process for
appointment of new Directors

a.

e.

Conduct an annual review of the
independence of each Director,
and ensure that the Board
comprises at least one-third
independent Directors;
Assess the effectiveness of
the Board;
Review Board and Management’s
succession plan; and
Report to the Board on its plans,
actions and outcomes with respect
to its terms of reference.

Recommend the appointment and
re-appointment of Directors;
Conduct an annual review of the
composition of the Board;

The Directors submit themselves
for re-nomination and re-election at
regular intervals of at least once every
three years. Pursuant to Article 86 of
the Company’s Articles of Association,
one-third of the Directors retire from
ofﬁce at the Company’s Annual General
Meeting. In addition, Article 93 of the
Company’s Articles of Association
provides that a Director appointed to ﬁll
a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the existing Directors must submit
himself for re-election at the Annual
General Meeting immediately following
his appointment.
Directors who are above the age of
70 are also statutorily required to seek
re-appointment at each Annual
General Meeting.
Process for appointment of
new directors
The NC has in place a formal process for
the selection of new directors to increase
transparency of the nominating process
in identifying and evaluating nominees
for directors. The NC leads the process

c.

d.

NC evaluates the balance of skills,
knowledge and experience on
the Board and, in light of such
evaluation and in consultation
with Management, prepares
a description of the role and
the essential and desirable
competencies for a particular
appointment.
External help (for example,
Singapore Institute of Directors,
search consultants, open
advertisement) may be used to
source for potential candidates if
need be. Directors and Management
may also make suggestions.
NC meets with the short-listed
candidate(s) to assess suitability
and to ensure that the candidate(s)
is/are aware of the expectations and
the level of commitment required.
NC makes recommendations to the
Board for approval.

Criteria for appointment of
new directors
All new appointments are subject to the
recommendation of the NC based on the
following objective criteria:
1.
2.
3.

Integrity
Independent mindedness
Diversity – possess core
competencies that meet the
current needs of the Company
and complement the skills and
competencies of the existing
Directors on the Board

The year of initial appointment and last re-election of the Directors are set out below:
Name

Steven Jay Green
Choo Chiau Beng
Lee Suan Yew
Teo Soon Hoe
Yong Pung How
Jeffrey Alan Safchik
Masroor Taale Siddiqui
Alexander Vahabzadeh
Neo Boon Siong

Corporate Governance

Age

Position

Date of
Initial Appointment

Date of Last
Re-Election

Nature of
Appointment

67
64
78
63
86
61
41
47
55

Chairman and CEO
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director, CFO and COO
Director
Director
Director

7 Sept 2001
27 Jul 2000
8 Aug 2002
25 Jan 1988
25 Sept 2006
7 May 2010
19 Nov 2010
16 Feb 2011
16 Feb 2011

28 Oct 2011
28 Oct 2011
28 Oct 2011
15 Oct 2010
28 Oct 2011
15 Oct 2010
28 Oct 2011
28 Oct 2011
28 Oct 2011

Executive Chairman
Non-Executive Director
Independent Director
Non-Executive Director
Independent Director
Executive Director
Independent Director
Non-Executive Director
Independent Director
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4.

5.
6.
7.

Able to commit time and effort to
carry out duties and responsibilities
effectively – proposed director is on
no more than six principal boards
Track record of making
good decisions
Experience in high-performing
organisations
Business acumen

criteria does not evaluate a crucial
element of the Board’s role, namely,
supervision and oversight. The Board
therefore feels that its performance
should be judged on the basis of
accountability as a whole, rather
than strict deﬁnitive ﬁnancial
performance criteria.

All new appointments and renominations of Directors are subject
to the recommendation of the NC.

Principle 11:

The NC will consider the competing
time commitments faced, if any, when
Directors serve on multiple boards,
on a case-by-case basis.

The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises
three Directors, two of whom (including
the Chairman) are independent
Directors, namely, Professor Neo
Boon Siong (Chairman of the AC), Mr
Teo Soon Hoe and Mr Masroor Taale
Siddiqui. Mr Ow Chio Kiat stepped down
as Chairman of the AC with effect from
18 August 2011. All members of the AC
have accounting and/or related ﬁnancial
management expertise and experience.

Principle 5:

Formal assessment of the effectiveness
of the Board as a whole and the
performance of individual Directors
The NC meets to assess the
performance of the Board as a whole
on a regular basis and schedules to
meet at least once every six months,
and provides feedback to the Chairman
of the Board. The Chairman of the NC
will then present the ﬁndings to the
Board at the next Board meeting. The
Board intends to continue focusing on
collective Board performance and defer
individual assessment to a later stage.

Establishment of Audit Committee with
written terms of reference

The AC had four meetings during the
ﬁnancial year ended 30 June 2012, which
were attended by all members, except
for Mr Ow who did not attend the sole
AC meeting which was held prior to him
stepping down as Chairman of the AC.
The terms of reference of the AC
are as follows:
a.

The Board has deemed that the current
measure of the Board’s performance,
which focuses on the ability of the
Board to lend support to Management
and to steer the Group in the right
direction, is appropriate, especially in
view of the nature of the Company’s
business. In addition, the Board,
through the delegation of its authority
to the NC, has used its best efforts
to ensure that the Board comprises
persons who represent the principal
strategic shareholders of the Company
as well as independent Directors who
enhance governance in the interests of
all shareholders and the Company.
The Board considers that ﬁnancial
performance criteria may not be
entirely appropriate for tracking Board
performance as it feels that such
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i.

j.
k.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

BOARD PERFORMANCE

h.

b.

c.

d.

e.
f.
g.

Review the audit plans of the
Company’s external auditors
and their evaluation of the
systems of internal controls
arising from their audit
examination;
Review external auditors’
management letter and the
response from Management;
Review the independence
and objectivity of the external
auditors annually;
Review the nature and extent of
non-audit services performed
by auditors;
Nominate external auditors for
re-appointment;
Review the valuation of investments;
Review the accounts of the
Company and the consolidated
accounts of the Group before their
submission to the Board;

Review the scope and results
of internal audit procedures;
Meet with external auditors and
internal auditors, without the
presence of Management, at least
once annually;
Review interested person
transactions; and
Investigate any matters within the
AC’s terms of reference, whenever
it deems necessary.

The AC has full access to and cooperation of Management and full
discretion to invite any Director or
executive ofﬁcer to attend its meetings.
During the ﬁnancial year ended
30 June 2012, the AC performed
independent reviews of the ﬁnancial
statements of the Company before the
announcement of the ﬁnancial results.
During the year, the AC met with the
external auditors two times to discuss
audit matters relating to the Group.
The AC undertook a review of the nature
and extent of all non-audit services
performed by the external auditors to
establish whether their independence
has in any way been compromised
as a result, and has conﬁrmed that
such services would not affect the
independence of the external auditors.
For details of fees payable to the
auditors in respect of audit and nonaudit services, please refer to Note 21
of the Notes to the Financial Statement
on page 69.
The Company has complied with
Rules 712, and 715 read with 716 of
the SGX Listing Manual in relation
to its auditing ﬁrms.
The Company has in place an Ethics
Reporting Policy (the “Policy”), which
provides for the mechanisms by which
employees and other persons may,
in conﬁdence, raise concerns about
possible improprieties in ﬁnancial
reporting or other matters. A set of
guidelines, which was reviewed by the
AC and approved by the Board, was also
issued to assist the AC in managing
allegations of fraud or other misconduct
which may be made pursuant to the
Policy, so that:
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–
–

–

Investigations are carried out in an
appropriate and timely manner;
Administrative, disciplinary, civil
and/or criminal actions that are
initiated following completion of
investigations, are appropriate,
balanced and fair; and
Action is taken to correct the
weaknesses in the existing system
of internal processes and policies
which allowed the perpetration of
the fraud and/or misconduct, and to
prevent a recurrence.

The AC reviews the reports submitted
by the external auditors relating to
the effectiveness of the company’s
signiﬁcant internal controls, including
ﬁnancial, operational and compliance
controls, and management of risks
and fraud and other irregularities. Any
material non-compliance or failures in
internal controls and recommendations
for improvements are reported to the AC.
The AC also reviews the effectiveness of
the actions taken by Management on the
recommendations made by the external
auditors in this respect.

c.
d.

e.

f.

INTERNAL AUDIT
Principle 13:

Independent Internal Audit Function
The Board believes it is crucial to put
in place a system of internal controls
of the Group’s procedures and
processes to safeguard shareholders’
interests and the Group’s assets, and
to manage risks.
The AC reviews, on an annual basis,
the adequacy of the internal audit
function. During its review in the
ﬁnancial year ended 30 June 2012,
the AC again concluded that as all of
the Group’s business activities were
conducted overseas, and that the
Company’s main activities in Singapore
relate to head ofﬁce functions and have
no operational risks, the appointment
of an internal auditor for the Company
in Singapore was not necessary.
Instead, the Company has put in place
certain review procedures to monitor
the key controls and procedures and
ensure their effectiveness. Such
procedures will complement the
AC’s oversight and supervision of
the Company’s internal controls.
As regards the Group’s businesses
overseas, all of the Company’s major
operating subsidiaries either have
their own internal audit functions,
or have outsourced their internal
audit functions.

Based on the Group’s framework
of management control, the review
procedures established and maintained
by the Company to monitor the key
controls and procedures and ensure
their effectiveness, the annual reviews
performed by the external auditors
and the regular audits, monitoring
and reviews performed by the internal
auditors of the major operating
subsidiaries of Company, the Board,
with the concurrence of the AC, is of the
view that the Group’s internal controls,
addressing ﬁnancial, operational and
compliance risks as at 30 June 2012
are adequate.
COMPENSATION AND SHARE
OPTION COMMITTEE
The Compensation and Share Option
Committee (“CSOC”) comprises three
Directors, two of whom (including the
Chairman) are independent Directors,
namely, Mr Masroor Taale Siddiqui
(Chairman of the CSOC), Mr Choo
Chiau Beng and Mr Yong Pung How.
Mr Ow Chio Kiat stepped down as
Chairman of the CSOC with effect from
18 August 2011. The CSOC has access
to expert advice in the ﬁeld of executive
compensation where required. There
was no CSOC meeting during the
ﬁnancial year ended 30 June 2012.
The terms of reference of the CSOC are
as follows:

The AC is satisﬁed with the adequacy of
the Company’s internal audit function.

a.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND
RISK MANAGEMENT

b.

Principle 12:

Sound system of internal controls

Corporate Governance

Recommend to the Board a
framework of remuneration for the
Board members and key executives;
Determine speciﬁc remuneration
packages for each executive
Director and the Chief Executive

g.

Ofﬁcer (if the Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
is not an executive Director);
Decide the early termination
compensation of the Directors;
Consider whether Directors should
be eligible for beneﬁts under longterm incentive schemes (including
weighing the use of share schemes
against the other types of long-term
incentive schemes);
Review the terms, conditions
and remuneration of the senior
executives of the Company;
Administer the k1 Ventures Share
Option Scheme 2000 (the “Scheme”)
in accordance with the rules of the
Scheme; and
Grant share options under the
Scheme as the CSOC may deem ﬁt.

ANNUAL REMUNERATION REPORT
Principle 7:

Formal and transparent procedure for
ﬁxing remuneration packages of Directors
Principle 8:

Remuneration of Directors should be
adequate but not excessive
Principle 9:

Disclosure on remuneration policy, level
and mix of remuneration, and procedure
for setting remuneration
The aim of the CSOC is to motivate and
retain Directors and executives, and
ensure that the Company is able to
attract the best talent in the market in
order to maximise shareholder value.
REMUNERATION POLICY OF NONEXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The Directors’ fees payable to nonexecutive Directors are paid in cash and/
or ﬁxed number of shares in the capital
of the Company (“k1 Shares”) as follows:
i.

Cash Component: The nonexecutive Directors are paid
Directors’ fees in arrears, the
amount of which is dependent on
the level of responsibilities. Each
Director is paid a basic fee. In
addition, non-executive Directors
who perform additional services
through Board Committees are
paid an additional fee for such
services. The Chairman of each
Board Committee is also paid a
higher fee compared with members
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The framework for determining Directors’ fees is as follows:

Directors’ Report on page 39 under the
heading “Management Agreement”.

Framework of Directors’ Fees
Ratio to Retainer
of $30,000

Chairman
Director
Audit Committee
Other Board Committees

Chairman
Member

$60,000 per annum
$30,000 per annum
$25,000 per annum
$15,000 per annum

2.00
1.00
0.83
0.50

Chairman
Member

$12,000 per annum
$8,000 per annum

0.40
0.27

of that Committee in view of the
higher responsibility carried by that
ofﬁce. The amount of Directors’ fees
payable is subject to shareholders’
approval at the Company’s Annual
General Meetings.
ii.

Share Component: At the
Annual General Meeting of
the Company held in 2007, the
shareholders approved the Board’s
recommendation relating to the
remuneration of Directors to
permit the Company to award
a ﬁxed number of k1 Shares,
as shall from time to time be
determined by an Ordinary
Resolution of the Company, to
non-executive Directors as part of
their remuneration. The Company
is therefore able to remunerate its
non-executive Directors in the form
of k1 Shares by the purchase of k1
Shares from the market for delivery
to non-executive directors.

The Board believes that the
incorporation of an equity component
in the total remuneration of the nonexecutive Directors would achieve the
objective of aligning the interests of the
non-executive Directors with those of
the shareholders and the long-term
interests of the Company.
The Directors’ fees payable to
non-executive Directors is subject
to shareholders’ approval at the
Company’s Annual General Meetings.
For the ﬁnancial year ended
30 June 2012, the Company is proposing
to procure the purchase from the
market of 323,000 k1 Shares solely for
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the purpose of the delivery of 45,000 k1
Shares to each non-executive Director
as part of Directors’ remuneration, save
for Mr Ow who ceased to be a nonexecutive Director with effect from 18
August 2011 and will receive 8,000 k1
Shares accordingly. This proposal will
be subject to shareholders’ approval
at the Annual General Meeting. The
number of k1 Shares to be awarded
may be reviewed from time to time
for subsequent ﬁnancial years,
but any change is not expected
to be signiﬁcant.
REMUNERATION POLICY OF
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND OTHER
KEY EXECUTIVES
The remuneration of the Directors
and other key executives is under the
purview of the CSOC.
The Company currently only has two
executive Directors, being Mr Steven Jay
Green and Mr Jeffrey Alan Safchik, and
no other key executives.
The appointments and discharge of
the roles of Mr Steven Jay Green as the
CEO and Mr Jeffrey Alan Safchik as the
Company’s Chief Financial Ofﬁcer and
Chief Operating Ofﬁcer (“CFO and COO”)
are in connection with the management
services provided by Greenstreet under
the Second Amended and Restated
Management Agreement dated
15 October 2010 and as approved in an
extraordinary general meeting of the
shareholders of the same date (the
“Management Agreement”). Therefore,
the two executive Directors do not
draw any salary from the Company.
More information on the Management
Agreement can be found in the

The CSOC has however resolved that
the two executive Directors would
be compensated based on the same
framework as set out above under
the section “Remuneration Policy of
Non-Executive Directors”, subject
to shareholders’ approval at the
Company’s Annual General Meetings.
LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION
OF KEY EXECUTIVES (WHO ARE NOT
ALSO DIRECTORS) FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 30 JUNE 2012
Save for the CEO (Mr Steven Jay Green)
and the CFO and COO (Mr Jeffrey Alan
Safchik), who are executive Directors
of the Company, there are no other key
executives of the Company.
REMUNERATION OF EMPLOYEES
WHO ARE IMMEDIATE FAMILY
MEMBERS OF A DIRECTOR OR THE
EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN
No employee of the Company and
its subsidiaries was an immediate
family member of a Director or the
executive Chairman and whose
remuneration exceeded $150,000
during the ﬁnancial year ended
30 June 2012. “Immediate family
member” means the spouse, child,
adopted child, step-child, brother,
sister and parent.
DETAILS OF THE k1 VENTURES
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 2000
The particulars of share options
of the Company granted pursuant
to the Scheme are disclosed
in the Directors’ Report.
COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS
Principle 14:

Regular, effective and fair communication
with shareholders
Principle 15:

Greater shareholder participation at
Annual General Meetings
The Company believes that a high
standard of disclosure is key to raising
the level of corporate governance.
The Company does not practise
selective disclosure, material and
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The annual remuneration report for Directors is as follows:
Level and Mix of Remuneration of Directors for the ﬁnancial year ended 30 June 2012
Below $250,000
Name of Director

Steven Jay Green
Choo Chiau Beng
Lee Suan Yew
Teo Soon Hoe
Yong Pung How
Jeffrey Alan Safchik
Masroor Taale Siddiqui
Alexander Vahabzadeh
Neo Boon Siong
Ow Chio Kiat2

Base/
Fixed Salary

Variable Income/
Bonuses

Directors’
Fees ($)

Remuneration
Shares1

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–

60,000
46,000
42,000
45,000
38,000
30,000
56,333
30,000
61,333
12,500

–
45,000
45,000
45,000
45,000
–
45,000
45,000
45,000
8,000

1. The award of k1 Shares approved by shareholders during the Company’s Annual General Meeting held on 31 October 2007 is only applicable to
non-executive Directors.
2. Mr Ow Chio Kiat ceased to be an independent Director as well as Chairman of the Audit Committee, Chairman of the Compensation and Share Option
Committee and member of the Nominating Committee with effect from 18 August 2011.

price-sensitive information is publicly
released, and results and annual
reports are announced or issued within
the mandatory periods. The Company
has also engaged the Group Corporate
Communications Department of
Keppel Corporation Limited to improve
communication with shareholders, and
to receive and attend to their queries
and concerns.

To enhance communication with
investors, the Company has held several
press and analysts’ conferences since
2003 and will continue to do so from
time to time as it deems appropriate.
The Company’s website (http://www.
k1ventures.com.sg) provides investors
with weblinks and other information
regarding the Company’s businesses
and investments.

Shareholders are informed of
shareholders’ meetings through
notices published in the newspapers
and reports or circulars sent to all
shareholders. Shareholders are
invited at such meetings to put
forth any questions they may have on
the motions to be debated and decided
upon. If any shareholder is unable to
attend, he or she is allowed to appoint
up to two proxies to vote on his or her
behalf at the meeting through proxy
forms sent in advance.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
In compliance with Rule 1207(19) of
the Listing Manual on best practices
on dealing in securities, the Company
issues circulars to its Directors and
ofﬁcers informing that the Company
and its ofﬁcers must not deal in listed
securities of the Company one month
before the release of the full-year
results and two weeks before the
release of the quarterly results, as
the case may be, and if they are in
possession of unpublished material
price-sensitive information. Directors
and ofﬁcers have also been informed
of the implications of insider trading
and guidance on such dealings,
including the prohibition on dealings
with the Company’s securities on
short-term considerations.

At shareholders’ meetings, each
distinct issue is proposed as a separate
resolution.
The Company will not be considering
implementing absentia voting
methods such as voting via mail,
email or fax until security, integrity
and other pertinent issues are
satisfactorily resolved.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Code of Corporate Governance 2005
Speciﬁc Principles and Guidelines for Disclosure
Relevant guideline or principle

Guideline 1.3
Delegation of authority, by the board to any board committee, to make decisions on certain
board matters
Guideline 1.4
The number of board and board committee meetings held in the year, as well as the attendance of
every board member at these meetings
Guideline 1.5
The type of material transactions that require board approval under internal guidelines
Guideline 2.2
Where the company considers a director to be independent in spite of the existence of a relationship
as stated in the Code that would otherwise deem him as non-independent, the nature of the director’s
relationship and the reason for considering him as independent should be disclosed
Guideline 3.1
Relationship between the Chairman and CEO where they are related to each other
Guideline 4.1
Composition of nominating committee
Guideline 4.5
Process for selection and appointment of new directors to the board
Guideline 4.6
Key information regarding directors, which directors are executive, non-executive or considered by
the nominating committee to be independent
Guideline 5.1
Process for assessing the effectiveness of the board as a whole and the contribution of each individual
director to the effectiveness of the board
Principle 9
Clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration, procedure for setting
remuneration and link between remuneration paid to directors and key executives, and performance
Guideline 9.1
Composition of remuneration committee
Guideline 9.2
Names and remuneration of each director. The disclosure of remuneration should be in bands of
$250,000. There will be a breakdown (in percentage terms) of each director’s remuneration earned
through base/ﬁxed salary, variable or performance-related income/bonuses, beneﬁts in kind, and
stock options granted and other long-term incentives
Guideline 9.2
Names and remuneration of at least the top ﬁve key executives (who are not also directors).
The disclosure should be made in bands of $250,000 and include a breakdown of remuneration
Guideline 9.3
Remuneration of employees who are immediate family members of a director or the CEO, and whose
remuneration exceed $150,000 during the year. The disclosure should be in bands of $250,000 and
include a breakdown of remuneration
Guideline 9.4
Details of employee share schemes
Guideline 11.8
Composition of audit committee and details of the committee’s activities
Guideline 12.2
Adequacy of internal controls, including ﬁnancial, operational and compliance controls, and risk
management systems
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Pages 26
and 29 to 31
Page 27

Page 26
Not Applicable

Not Applicable
Page 29
Page 29
Pages 6 to 10,
28 and 29
Page 30

Pages 31 and 32

Page 31
Page 33

Not Applicable

Not Applicable

Page 32
Pages 30 and 31
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INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

As at 30 June 2012, k1 Ventures’ key investments are illustrated in the following chart:

k1 Ventures

Transportation Leasing

Helm Holding Corporation
80.1%

Education
12.2%

Other Investments

Investment Portfolio

Knowledge Universe
Holdings

Knowledge Universe
Education LP
65%

Oil & Gas Exploration

McMoRan

Financial Services

Guggenheim Capital

Automotive Retail

China Auto
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group and balance sheet
and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.
1.

Directors
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:
Steven Jay Green (Chairman)
Choo Chiau Beng
Lee Suan Yew
Teo Soon Hoe
Yong Pung How
Jeffrey Alan Safchik
Masroor Taale Siddiqui
Alexander Vahabzadeh
Neo Boon Siong

2.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors comprises three members. Members of the Committee are:
Neo Boon Siong (Chairman)
Teo Soon Hoe
Masroor Taale Siddiqui
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the corporate governance section.
The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with the Companies Act, including the review of the audit
plans and scope of the audit examination of the auditors of the Company, their findings on the financial statements
arising from their audit examination, as well as the nature and extent of non-audit services performed by them. In
addition, the Audit Committee carried out the following functions:
-

Reviewed the independence and objectivity of the external auditors annually;
Nominated external auditors for re-appointment;
Reviewed the accounts of the Company and the consolidated accounts of the Group before their submission to
the Board of Directors;
Reviewed the scope and results of internal audit procedures; and
Reviewed interested person transactions.

The Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors the re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as auditors
of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
3.

Internal controls and risk management
Based on the Group’s framework of management control, the review procedures established and maintained by the
Company to monitor the key controls and procedures and ensure their effectiveness, the annual reviews performed
by the external auditors and the regular audits, monitoring and reviews performed by the internal auditors of the major
operating subsidiaries of the Company, the Board, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee, is of the view that the
Group’s internal controls, addressing financial, operational and compliance risks as at 30 June 2012 are adequate.

4.

Arrangements to enable Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares and
debentures
Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement whose
object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures
in the Company or any other body corporate except as disclosed in paragraph 7 of the Directors’ Report.
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5.

Directors’ interest in shares and debentures
The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year and their interests in the share capital of the
Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company under
Section 164 of the Companies Act are as follows:
01.07.11

k1 Ventures Limited
(Ordinary shares)
Steven Jay Green (deemed interest)
Choo Chiau Beng
Lee Suan Yew
Teo Soon Hoe
Yong Pung How
Masroor Taale Siddiqui
Alexander Vahabzadeh
Alexander Vahabzadeh (deemed interest)
Neo Boon Siong
Helm Financial Corporation
(Debentures in US$)
Steven Jay Green (deemed interest)
Jeffrey Alan Safchik (deemed interest)
6.

Interest held at
30.06.12

21.07.12

305,332,800
34,060
120,000
102,500
220,000
265,000,000
-

305,332,800
34,060
165,000
102,500
265,000
30,000
19,000
265,000,000
19,000

305,332,800
34,060
165,000
102,500
265,000
30,000
19,000
265,000,000
19,000

2,793,000
199,500

3,754,975
197,500

3,754,975
197,500

Management Agreement
The Company entered into a Management Agreement dated 18 November 2003, which was amended pursuant to
a First Amendment Agreement dated 15 July 2004, the Amended and Restated Management Agreement dated 3
February 2005 and the Second Amended and Restated Management Agreement dated 15 October 2010, (collectively,
the “Agreement”) with Greenstreet Partners, L.P. (“Greenstreet”), a limited partnership in which the Chairman of the
Company has a substantial financial interest, pursuant to which Greenstreet will provide the Company with consultancy
services on investment opportunities and management services in respect of all other aspects of managing the
Company and its business activities throughout the world. The Agreement provides for the Company to pay Greenstreet
(i) a monthly fee of between US$50,000 to US$200,000 and (ii) a monthly management fee of 0.0625% of the
aggregate amount of capital invested by the Company or its affiliates in any investment after 15 October 2010, provided
that once such aggregate amount of capital invested is equal to the existing capital amount, then any new capital shall
be subject to a monthly management fee of 0.125% thereof, provided however that the entire existing capital amount
must be fully committed for such investments prior to the investment of any new capital. Greenstreet will also be
entitled to receive a carried interest in respect of each new investment undertaken by the Company or its affiliates to
be determined on a transaction-by-transaction basis. The carried interest payable shall be based upon the realised net
profits, after the return of invested capital and management fees paid to Greenstreet generated with respect to each
investment, whereby Greenstreet will receive a specified proportion of the realised net profits in excess of agreed rates
of return for each new investment.
Except as disclosed in this report and in the notes to the financial statements, no director of the Company has since the
beginning of the financial year received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is required to be disclosed under
Section 201(8) of the Companies Act by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the
director or with a firm of which he is a member or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.
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7.

Share options
The k1 Ventures Share Option Scheme 2000 is administered by the Compensation and Share Option Committee,
whose members are:
Masroor Taale Siddiqui (Chairman)
Choo Chiau Beng
Yong Pung How
During the financial year, no option to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group were
granted and no shares were issued by virtue of the exercise of option to take up unissued shares of the Company or
any corporation in the Group.
At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group under
option.

8.

Auditors
The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Steven Jay Green
Chairman

Jeffrey Alan Safchik
Director

Singapore
31 August 2012
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Statement 0f Directors

We, STEVEN JAY GREEN and JEFFREY ALAN SAFCHIK being two directors of k1 Ventures Limited, do hereby state that in
the opinion of the directors, the financial statements set out on pages 43 to 79 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2012, and of the results, changes in equity and cash
flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement,
there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Steven Jay Green
Chairman

Jeffrey Alan Safchik
Director

Singapore
31 August 2012
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Members of k1 Ventures Limited

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of k1 Ventures Limited (“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“Group”)
which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2012, the profit and loss account,
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the Group and the
statement of changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 43 to 79.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and for devising and
maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded
as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair balance sheets and profit and loss accounts and to maintain
accountability of assets.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity
of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2012 and
of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on
that date.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by its subsidiary
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Ng Peck Hoon
Partner
Appointed on 28 October 2011
Singapore
31 August 2012
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Balance Sheets
As at 30 June 2012

Company

Group

Note

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

3
4

196,439
118,707
315,146
315,146

196,439
87,767
284,206
284,206

196,439
142,273
338,712
31,233
369,945

196,439
142,522
338,961
41,323
380,284

Represented by:
Fixed assets
Subsidiaries
Associated company and joint ventures
Investments
Other assets
Intangibles

5
6
7
8
9
10

295,685
17,960
313,645

295,685
17,064
312,749

184,830
63,198
197,279
5,932
115,895
567,134

212,890
52,639
207,412
6,925
168,274
648,140

Current assets
Stocks
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Debtors
Deposits, bank balances and cash

11
12
13
14

9
22
2,868
2,899

6
24
17,665
17,695

10,120
5,974
41,446
57,540

2,372
7,083
40,093
49,548

15

780

34,650

9,882

6,233

12
12
16

588
1,368

910
2,055
37,615

258
1,518
3,683
15,341

341
1,474
46,467
54,515

1,531

(19,920)

42,199

(4,967)

30
30

8,623
8,623

148,396
715
90,277
239,388

145,565
601
116,723
262,889

315,146

284,206

369,945

380,284

Share capital
Reserves
Share capital and reserves
Non-controlling interests
Capital employed

Current liabilities
Creditors
Amounts due to:
- subsidiaries
- associated company and joint ventures
Term loans
Provision for taxation

Net current assets / (liabilities)
Non-current liabilities
Term loans
Deferred liabilities
Deferred taxation

Net assets

16
17
18

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Proﬁt and
Loss Account
For the ﬁnancial year ended 30 June 2012

Note

Revenue
Raw materials & consumables used
Net carrying value of investment disposed
Staff costs
Depreciation and amortisation
Fixed assets impairment loss
Goodwill impairment loss
Other intangibles impairment loss
Other operating expenses
Operating loss
Finance expenses
Foreign exchange gain/(loss)
Share of results of associated company and joint ventures
Loss before tax
Taxation

19

20
5, 10
5
10
10

21
22

23

Profit/(loss) for the year

30.06.11
$’000

78,673
(3,622)
(328)
(9,122)
(29,970)
(18,274)
(43,477)
(11,948)
(20,622)

71,217
(9,880)
(9,938)
(32,782)
(3,455)
(19,836)

(58,690)
(11,201)
119
9,157

(4,674)
(7,786)
(1,668)
9,344

(60,615)
61,237

(4,784)
289

622

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings/(loss) per ordinary share (cents):
- basic
- diluted

30.06.12
$’000

11,851
(11,229)

(4,495)

(4,716)
221

622

(4,495)

0.55
0.55

(0.22)
(0.22)

24

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income
For the ﬁnancial year ended 30 June 2012

Profit/(loss) for the year
Fair value changes on available-for-sale investments, net of tax
Fair value gain/(loss) on available-for-sale assets realised
& transferred to profit and loss account
Exchange differences arising on consolidation

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

622

(4,495)

(10,253)

9,899

89

(1,913)

10,511

(38,293)

Share of other comprehensive (expense)/income

(480)

208

Other comprehensive expense for the year, net of tax

(133)

(30,099)

489

(34,594)

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

10,579
(10,090)
489

(28,931)
(5,663)
(34,594)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Statements of
Changes in Equity
For the ﬁnancial year ended 30 June 2012

Share
capital
$’000

Capital
reserves
$’000

Revenue
reserves
$’000

Total
$’000

(1,590)

89,357

284,206

40,473
40,473

40,473
1,295
41,768

(10,828)

(10,828)

119,002

315,146

Company
As at 1 July 2011

196,439

Total comprehensive income for the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income for the year

-

1,295
1,295

Transactions with equity holders,
recorded directly in equity
Dividend paid (Note 25)

-

-

As at 30 June 2012

196,439

As at 1 July 2010

196,439

1,195

105,300

302,934

Total comprehensive expense for the year
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive expense
Total comprehensive expense for the year

-

(2,785)
(2,785)

(5,115)
(5,115)

(5,115)
(2,785)
(7,900)

Transactions with equity holders,
recorded directly in equity
Dividend paid

-

-

(10,828)

(10,828)

196,439

(1,590)

89,357

284,206

As at 30 June 2011

(295)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Attributable to equity holders of the Company

Share
capital
$’000

Capital
reserves
$’000

196,439

19,421

-

-

Foreign
exchange
translation
account
$’000

Revenue
reserves
$’000

Share
capital &
reserves
$’000

Noncontrolling
interests
$’000

Total
$’000

204,827

338,961

41,323

380,284

-

11,851

11,851

(11,229)

622

(1,272)

1,139

(133)

(10,090)

489

Group
As at 1 July 2011
Total comprehensive (expense)/
income for the year
Profit/(loss) for the year
Other comprehensive (expense)/
income
Total comprehensive (expense)/
income for the year
Transactions with equity
holders, recorded directly
in equity
Dividend paid (Note 25)

(81,726)

-

(10,548)

9,276

-

-

(10,548)

9,276

11,851

10,579

(10,828)

(10,828)

-

-

-

-

(10,828)

As at 30 June 2012

196,439

8,873

(72,450)

205,850

338,712

31,233

369,945

As at 1 July 2010

196,439

11,268

(49,358)

220,371

378,720

46,986

425,706

-

-

-

(4,716)

(4,716)

221

(4,495)

Total comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year
(Loss)/profit for the year
Other comprehensive income/
(expense)
Total comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year

-

8,153

(32,368)

-

(24,215)

(5,884)

(30,099)

-

8,153

(32,368)

(4,716)

(28,931)

(5,663)

(34,594)

Transactions with equity
holders, recorded directly
in equity
Dividend paid

-

-

-

(10,828)

(10,828)

-

(10,828)

196,439

19,421

(81,726)

204,827

338,961

41,323

380,284

As at 30 June 2011

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows
For the ﬁnancial year ended 30 June 2012

30.06.12
$’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Operating loss
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortisation
Fixed assets impairment loss
Goodwill impairment loss
Other intangibles impairment loss
Accretion of interest income on held-to-maturity financial assets
Profit on disposal of fixed assets
Profit on sale of investments
Cash flow from operations before changes in working capital
Working capital changes:
Stocks
Debtors
Creditors
Translation of foreign subsidiaries and others
Cash from operations
Interest paid
Income tax paid
Net cash from operating activities

30.06.11
$’000

(58,690)

(4,674)

29,970
18,274
43,477
11,948
(1,773)
(5,237)
(10,601)
27,368

32,782
3,455
(66)
(6,968)
(2,507)
22,022

1,651
1,184
4,048
670
34,921
(9,884)
(6,170)
18,867

7,449
(1,360)
687
(8,254)
20,544
(5,908)
(14,004)
632

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of fixed assets
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets
Proceeds from distributions from associated company and joint venture
Net proceeds from disposal and capital distribution of investments
Purchase of investments
Net cash used in investing activities

(39,453)
23,398
11,007
(219)
(5,267)

(10,967)
29,119
4,019
42,412
(122,841)
(58,258)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from term loans
Payment of debt issuance cost
Repayment of term loans
Dividend paid to shareholders of the Company
Net cash used in financing activities

(1,538)
(10,828)
(12,366)

147,408
(6,667)
(194,768)
(10,828)
(64,855)

1,234
40,093
119
41,446

(122,481)
164,242
(1,668)
40,093

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Notes to the
Financial Statements
For the ﬁnancial year ended 30 June 2012

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.
1.

General
The Company is incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Singapore and is listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited. The address of its principal place of business and registered office is 1 HarbourFront Avenue,
#18-01 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632.
The principal activities of the Company are to invest in a wide range of investments across diverse industry sectors.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are detailed in Note 6 to the financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the
Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the
Board of Directors on 31 August 2012.

2.

Significant accounting policies

a)

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.
Adoption of New and Revised Standards
In the current year, the Group adopted the new/revised FRS and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as
required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.
The following are the new or amended FRS that are relevant to the Group:
FRS 24 (Revised)
Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosures
Improvements to FRS (issued in 2010)

Related Party Disclosures
Transfers of Financial Assets

The adoption of the above FRS did not result in any substantial change to the Group’s accounting policies nor any
significant impact on the financial statements.
New accounting standards and interpretations
At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following FRS and amendments to FRS that are relevant to
the Group and the Company have been issued but are not yet effective:
Amendments to FRS 1
Amendments to FRS 12
Revised FRS 19
FRS 27
FRS 28
FRS 110
FRS 111
FRS 112
FRS 113

Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
Deferred Taxes: Recovery of Underlying Assets
Employee Benefits
Separate Financial Statements
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
Consolidated Financial Statements
Joint Arrangements
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
Fair Value Measurements

Management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRS and amendments to FRS in future periods is not expected
to have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and the Company in the period of their initial adoption.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

b)

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the
balance sheet date.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the financial year are included or excluded from the
consolidated financial statements from their respective dates of acquisition or disposal. All intercompany transactions,
balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to ensure consistency of accounting policies with those
of the Group.
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. The interest of noncontrolling shareholders that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured (at date of original business combination) either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another FRS. Subsequent to acquisition, the
carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling
interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the
relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under FRS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associated company or joint venture.
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each
acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet
the conditions for recognition under FRS 103 (Revised) are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date.
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c)

Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. When the carrying amount
of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount. Profits or
losses on disposal of fixed assets are included in the profit and loss account.
Depreciation of fixed assets is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of the fixed assets over their
estimated useful lives. No depreciation is provided on freehold land and capital work-in-progress. The estimated useful
lives of other fixed assets are as follows:
Rail equipment held for lease
Plant, machinery & equipment

1 to 15 years
3 to 7 years

Rail equipment held for lease consists of railcars and locomotives. These assets are either currently leased or are held
for lease. Rail equipment being leased is accounted for under the operating lease method. Rail equipment is principally
stated at cost, including costs incurred to recondition the equipment.
Capital work-in-progress includes rail equipment in the process of being refurbished or awaiting refurbishment and is
carried at cost plus refurbishment costs.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
d)

Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to
obtain benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.
Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s financial statements at cost less any impairment losses.

e)

Associated company and joint ventures
An associated company is an entity, not being a subsidiary, over which the Group has significant influence, but not
control, in the commercial and financial policy decisions.
A joint venture is a company, not being a subsidiary or associated company, over which the Group has a long term
interest of not more than 50% of the equity and has joint control over the investee company’s commercial and financial
policy decisions.
Investments in associated company or joint ventures are stated in the Company’s financial statements at cost less
any impairment losses. On disposal of an associated company or joint ventures, the difference between net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the investment is taken to profit and loss account.
Investments in associated company and joint ventures are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting whereby the Group’s share of profit or loss of the associated company and joint
ventures is included in the profit and loss account and the Group’s share of net assets of the associated company and
joint ventures is included in the balance sheet.
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the associated company and joint ventures recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part
of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after re-assessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
When a Group entity transacts with an associated company and joint venture of the Group, profits and losses are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associated company and joint venture.
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2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)

f)

Investments
Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating
interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument,
or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial instruments “at fair value through profit or loss”.
Available-for-sale
Investments classified as available-for-sale investments are initially measured at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs.
Investments are recognised and derecognised on the trade-date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a
contract whose terms require delivery of investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned.
Any resultant gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in other comprehensive income,
until the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the profit and loss account.
The fair value of quoted investments is based on current bid prices. For investments where there is no active market,
the fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length transactions,
reference to the underlying net asset value of the investee companies, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing
models. For unquoted equity investments without quoted market prices in active markets whose fair values cannot be
reliably measured by management using alternative valuation methods, such investments are carried at cost less any
impairment loss.
The fair value of available-for-sale monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign
currency and translated at the spot rate at end of the reporting period. The change in fair value attributable to translation
differences that result from a change in amortised cost of the asset is recognised in profit or loss, and other changes are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that an investment is impaired. A
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost is considered in determining whether
the investment is impaired. If any such evidence exists, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit
or loss - is removed from equity and recognised in the profit and loss account. Impairment losses recognised in the profit
and loss account are not reversed through the profit and loss account until the investment is disposed of.
Held-to-maturity
Investments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates where the Group has a positive interest and
ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at
amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at
FVTPL.
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A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:
•

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or

•

it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent
actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

•

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:
•

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

•

the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or
investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

•

it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and FRS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial
asset and is included in ‘other gains and losses’ line in the statement of comprehensive income/income statement.
g)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivative financial instruments are carried as assets when the fair value is
positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge
accounting are taken to the profit and loss account.
Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash
flows are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit or loss. If the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or forecast transaction results in the recognition of an asset
or a liability, then, at the time the asset or liability is recognised, the associated gains or losses on the derivative that had
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are included in the initial measurement of the asset or liability.
For hedges that do not result in the recognition of an asset or a liability, amounts deferred in equity are recognised in
profit or loss in the same period in which the hedged item affects profit or loss.
Payments or receipts under interest rate cap and swap agreements are recorded as an adjustment to finance expense.

h)

Impairment of assets
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets (excluding
goodwill) to determine whether there is any indication that these assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use) of the asset is estimated to determine
the amount of impairment loss.
For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual asset basis
unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case,
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
If the recoverable amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in the profit and
loss account.
An impairment loss for an asset is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of the asset is
increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of impairment loss for an asset is recognised in the profit and loss account.

i)

Debt issuance costs
Debt issuance costs are capitalised when incurred and amortised over the term of the debt. The unamortised portion
of debt issuance costs associated with early termination of the debt is recognised in the profit and loss account
immediately.

j)

Intangibles
Goodwill
Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired. Goodwill is
measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the acquisitiondate amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
If, after re-assessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
An impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account when the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit,
including goodwill, exceeds the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. The impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating units and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit on a pro-rata basis. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
Customer relationships and other intangibles
Customer relationships were valued using the excess earnings method and are amortised on a straight-line basis over
their useful life of 15 years (2011: 2 to 25 years).
Other intangible assets related to trademarks were valued using the excess earnings method and were amortised on a
straight-line basis over their useful life of 10 years.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its customer relationships and other
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified. An impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account when the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset.
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k)

Operating leases
(i)
When the Group is the lessee
Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentive received from lessor)
are taken to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
(ii)

When the Group is the lessor
Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentive given to lessee) is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

l)

Stocks
Stocks include consumable supplies and spares and goods held for sale. Consumable supplies and spares are stated at
the lower of cost or net realisable value, cost being principally determined on average cost method. Goods held for sale
relate to locomotives previously held for lease that the Group plans to sell or scrap and these are stated at the lower of
their carrying values or fair value less cost to sell.

m)

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can
be made.

n)

Revenue recognition
Revenue consists of transportation leasing, proceeds from disposal of investments, investment income and interest
income.
Revenue from transportation leasing is recognised over the term of the lease. Deferred revenue results from cash
collections for which lease revenue has not been earned. Rental expense on equipment owned by others is offset
against lease revenues when the equipment is subleased to end-users.
Investment income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established, and in the
case of fixed interest bearing investments, on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. Interest income
is recognised on an accrual basis. Proceeds from disposal of investments, including that of subsidiaries and associates,
are recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

o)

Employee benefits
Defined contribution plan
The Group makes contributions to pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has operations.
Contributions to pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.
Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

p)

Asset retirement obligation
Provision for asset retirement obligation is recorded for legally obligated asset retirement costs associated with tangible
long-lived assets when the obligation to perform the asset retirement activity is unconditional, even if uncertainty exists
with regard to the timing or method of settling the obligation.

q)

Income taxes
Current income tax liabilities (and assets) for current and prior periods are recognised at the amounts expected to be
paid to (or recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Deferred income tax assets/liabilities are recognised for deductible/taxable temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation
and amortisation, revaluation of investments, unremitted offshore income and future tax benefits from certain provisions
not allowed for tax purposes until a later period. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in the profit and loss account, except when they
relate to items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in
which case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively), or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business
combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

r)

Financial assets
Financial assets include cash and bank balances, trade, intercompany and other receivables and investments. Trade,
intercompany and other receivables are stated at their fair values as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts.
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may
have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

s)

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities include trade, intercompany, other payables and term loans. Trade, intercompany and other payables
are stated at their fair values. Interest-bearing term loans are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is
taken to the profit and loss account over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Finance costs
are accounted for on an accrual basis (effective yield method) and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to
the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire.

t)
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u)

Foreign currencies
Functional currency
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency that best reflects
the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity (“functional currency”).
The financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company are
presented in Singapore Dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company.
Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at exchange
rates approximating those ruling at that date. Exchange differences arising from translation of monetary assets and
liabilities are taken to the profit and loss account. Exchange differences on non-monetary items, such as available-forsale investments, are included in other comprehensive income.
Foreign currency translation
For inclusion in the Group’s financial statements, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries and associated
companies that are in functional currencies other than Singapore Dollars are translated into Singapore Dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The trading results of foreign subsidiaries and associated companies
are translated into Singapore Dollars using the average exchange rates for the financial year. Exchange differences due to
such currency translation are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of
equity. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as non-monetary foreign
currency assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and recorded at the closing exchange rate.

v)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with maturity of three months or less.

w)

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(i)
Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management is of the opinion that there is no instance
of application of judgements which is expected to have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements, apart from those involving estimations described below.
(ii)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet
date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are as follows:
Impairment of intangibles
Determining whether goodwill and other intangibles are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill and intangibles are allocated. This requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected from the cash-generating units and an appropriate discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of the future cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill and other intangibles at the balance
sheet date are disclosed in Note 10.
Impairment of available-for-sale investments
Determining whether available-for-sale investments are other than temporarily impaired requires an assumption
made regarding the duration or extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost, and the
financial health of and near-term business outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector
performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flow. The fair value of available-for-sale
investments is disclosed in Note 8.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
Impairment of fixed assets
Determining whether fixed asset value is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units. This requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected from the cash-generating units and an
appropriate discount rate in order to calculate the present value of the future cash flows. The carrying amount of
fixed assets at the balance sheet date is disclosed in Note 5.
Depreciation of fixed assets
Fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Management estimates
the useful lives of these fixed assets to be within 1 to 15 years. Changes in the expected level of usage and
technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets,
therefore future depreciation charges could be revised. The carrying amount of fixed assets is disclosed in Note 5.
Amortisation of intangibles
Intangibles are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Actual results could differ from
those estimates.
Income taxes
The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant assumptions are required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due and derecognises liabilities when such
obligations are no longer expected or discharged. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in
the period in which such determination is made. The carrying amount of taxation and deferred taxation is disclosed
in the balance sheet.

3.

Share capital
Company and Group
30.06.12

Issued and paid up Ordinary shares:
Balance at beginning and end of the year

30.06.11

’000

$’000

’000

$’000

2,165,618

196,439

2,165,618

196,439

There are no outstanding share options of the Company as at the end of the financial year.
4.

Reserves
Company

Capital reserve:
Fair value reserve
Hedging reserve
Foreign exchange translation account
Revenue reserves

Group

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

(295)
(295)
119,002
118,707

(1,590)
(1,590)
89,357
87,767

9,729
(856)
8,873
(72,450)
205,850
142,273

19,893
(472)
19,421
(81,726)
204,827
142,522

Movements in the Group’s and the Company’s reserves are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and Statement of Changes in Equity respectively.
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5.

Fixed assets
Capital
work
in
progress
$’000

Rail
equipment
held
for lease
$’000

Plant,
machinery
&
equipment
$’000

Total
$’000

Group
30.06.12
Cost:
At beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Reclassification/Transfer
Exchange differences
At end of year
Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses:
At beginning of year
Charges for the year
Impairment loss
Disposals
Reclassification/Transfer
Exchange differences
At end of year
Net book value

623
9,808
(1,833)
19
8,617

-

424,661
29,553
(27,065)
(7,860)
11,215
430,504

2,277
92
66
2,435

427,561
39,453
(27,065)
(9,693)
11,300
441,556

212,696
27,964
18,274
(8,833)
(366)
4,705
254,440

1,975
253
58
2,286

214,671
28,217
18,274
(8,833)
(366)
4,763
256,726

8,617

176,064

149

184,830

1,594
2,247
(3,025)
(193)
623

508,081
8,706
(32,806)
(2,619)
(56,701)
424,661

2,571
14
(308)
2,277

512,246
10,967
(32,806)
(5,644)
(57,202)
427,561

-

211,715
30,705
3,455
(11,782)
(432)
(20,965)
212,696

1,981
243
(249)
1,975

213,696
30,948
3,455
(11,782)
(432)
(21,214)
214,671

623

211,965

302

212,890

Group
30.06.11
Cost:
At beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Reclassification/Transfer
Exchange differences
At end of year
Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses:
At beginning of year
Charges for the year
Impairment loss
Disposals
Reclassification/Transfer
Exchange differences
At end of year
Net book value

As of 30 June 2012, the net book value of the Company’s fixed assets is nil (2011: nil).
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Fixed assets (continued)
During the financial year, the Group recognised impairment losses of $18,274,000 (2011: $3,455,000) in profit or loss.
The impairment losses relate to a write-down of locomotives for rail equipment held for lease. These assets belong to the
Group’s transportation leasing segment. The impairment loss in the current year mainly resulted from certain locomotives
that were not on lease for a period of time or were coming to the end of existing leases and where future demand for
such equipment was expected to be weak. The recoverable amount of the relevant assets has been determined on the
basis of the higher of their respective value in use and fair value less costs to sell. The discount rate used in measuring
value in use was 11% (2011: 9%).
Rail equipment held for lease, capital work in progress and plant, machinery and equipment of a subsidiary are pledged
to banks for term loan facilities (Note 16).

6.

Subsidiaries
Company

Unquoted shares, at cost

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

295,685

295,685

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Principal
activities

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:
Effective equity
interest

Cost of
investment

30.06.12
%

30.06.11
%

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

Focus Up Holdings Ltd(1)

100

100

61,251

61,251

British Virgin
Islands

Investment
holding

K-1 Holdings Equity I, Inc(1)

100

100

27,875

27,875

United States
of America

Investment
holding

k1 Ventures (Hong Kong) Ltd(2)

100

100

5,664

5,664

Hong Kong

Investment
holding

FSHCO Holdings Pte Ltd(5)

100

100

51,593

51,593

Singapore

Investment
holding

Long Haul Holding Corporation(1)

80.1

80.1

149,302

149,302

United States
of America

Investment
holding

295,685

295,685

Subsidiaries
Held by the Company

60

k1 Ventures Limited
Report to Shareholders 2012

Effective equity
interest

Cost of
investment

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Principal
activities

30.06.12
%

30.06.11
%

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

PRB Corp(1)(4)

100

-

-

-

United States
of America

Investment
holding

Powder River, LLC(1)(4)

80.1

-

-

-

United States
of America

Investment
holding

DFS Holdings I Limited(1)

100

100

-

-

British Virgin
Islands

Investment
holding

DFS Holdings II Limited(1)

100

100

-

-

British Virgin
Islands

Investment
holding

DFS Holdings I Corp(1)

100

100

-

-

United States
of America

Investment
holding

Long Haul Holding II Corp(3)

80.1

80.1

-

-

United States
of America

Transportation
leasing

Helm Financial Corporation(3)

80.1

80.1

-

-

United States
of America

Transportation
leasing

Helm Locomotive Leasing
Corporation(3)

80.1

80.1

-

-

United States
of America

Transportation
leasing

Helm General Corporation(3)

80.1

80.1

-

-

United States
of America

Transportation
leasing

Helm Pacific Corporation(3)

80.1

80.1

-

-

United States
of America

Transportation
leasing

Helm Environmental Solutions,
LLC(3)

80.1

80.1

-

-

United States
of America

Transportation
leasing

Held by subsidiaries

Notes:
(1) Audited for consolidation purposes as not required to be audited by law in its country of incorporation.
(2) Audited by PKF, Hong Kong.
(3) Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, San Francisco.
(4) Incorporated during the financial year.
(5) Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore.
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7.

Associated company and joint ventures
Group
30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

8,324
54,874
63,198

8,083
44,556
52,639

44,710
15,635
78,878
4,911

32,262
8,819
65,056
3,586

8,738
236,250
4,807
145,421
56,020
20,098

7,151
184,782
5,477
113,102
59,370
21,342

Unquoted shares at cost
Share of post-acquisition reserves

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associated company is set out below:
Total assets
Total liabilities
Revenue
Profit for the year
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s joint ventures is set out below:
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Revenue
Profit for the year

Details of the Group’s joint ventures and associated company, all of which are held by subsidiaries, are as follows:
Effective equity
interest

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Principal
activities

30.06.12
%

30.06.11
%

Helm-Pacific Leasing(1)

40

40

United States
of America

Transportation
leasing

Helm Chesapeake LP(1)

29

29

United States
of America

Transportation
leasing

30

30

United States
of America

Repair and
restoration of
locomotives
and railcars

Joint Ventures

Associated Company
Metro East Industries, Inc(2)

Notes on auditors
(1) Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, San Francisco.
(2) Audited by RubinBrown LLP, USA.
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8.

Investments
Company

Available-for-sale:
Quoted equity investments, at fair value
Unquoted investments, at fair value(1)
Unquoted equity investments, at cost(2)

Held-to-maturity:
Held-to-maturity financial assets, at amortised cost(3)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Warrants(4)

(1)
(2)

(3)

(4)

9.

Group

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

2,245
2,245
15,715
17,960

1,775
1,775
15,289
17,064

37,010
10,198
47,208
23,767
70,975

52,416
21,958
74,374
21,187
95,561

-

-

114,918

111,851

17,960

17,064

11,386
197,279

207,412

Based on net asset valuations with adjustments for market illiquidity.
Stated at cost less impairment as the fair value cannot be reliably measured i.e. the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value is significant and the probabilities of the various estimates cannot be reliably assessed.
Included is an investment of $6.0 million where the distributions received in the current year were recognised as
income in the profit and loss statement. In the prior year, the Group recorded such distributions as a reduction to
the investment.
The average effective interest rate of the held to maturity investment is 9.33% (2011: 8.96%) per annum.
As at 30 June 2012, the held-to-maturity investment has a nominal value amounting to US$100,000,000
(2011: US$100,000,000), with a coupon rate of 7% (2011: 7%) per annum and matures in June 2017.
In 2011, the Warrants were classified as available-for-sale investments. In 2012, management has performed an
assessment and as the Warrants are an embedded derivative, they were restated as financial assets carried at fair
value.

Other assets
Group

Debt issuance cost
Others

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

5,673
259
5,932

6,682
243
6,925

During the year, debt issuance cost amortised to the profit and loss accounts amounted to $1.3 million (2011: $1.6 million).
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10. Intangibles

Goodwill
$’000

Customer
relationships
$’000

Other
intangible
assets
$’000

Total
$’000

Group
30.06.12
At beginning of year
Amortisation
Impairment loss
Exchange differences
At end of year
Comprised:
Cost less impairment loss
Accumulated amortisation

145,703
(43,477)
4,180
106,406

19,905
(1,073)
(9,894)
551
9,489

2,666
(680)
(2,054)
68
-

168,274
(1,753)
(55,425)
4,799
115,895

106,406
106,406

17,013
(7,524)
9,489

13,498
(13,498)
-

136,917
(21,022)
115,895

165,748
(20,045)
145,703

23,834
(1,102)
(2,827)
19,905

3,824
(732)
(426)
2,666

193,406
(1,834)
(23,298)
168,274

145,703
145,703

26,165
(6,260)
19,905

15,109
(12,443)
2,666

186,977
(18,703)
168,274

Group
30.06.11
At beginning of year
Amortisation
Exchange differences
At end of year
Comprised:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Other intangible assets comprise trademarks.
Impairment testing of goodwill, customer relationships and other intangible assets
The carrying values of the Group’s goodwill, customer relationships and other intangible assets on acquisition of
subsidiaries as at 30 June 2012 were assessed for impairment during the financial year.
Goodwill is allocated for impairment testing purposes to the individual subsidiary which is also the cash-generating unit
within the Transportation Leasing Segment.
The recoverable amount is determined from both comparable public company analysis and value in use calculations.
The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates, market price
earnings multiples and estimates of forecasted revenue and profitability. The value in use was computed by applying
the discounted cash flow model using cash flow projections derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period using an average discount rate and long term growth rate of 11% (2011: 10%)
and 4% (2011: 4%) per annum, respectively.
The growth rate used does not exceed the long term average growth rate of the respective industry and country in which
the subsidiary operates. The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections are derived from the cost of capital plus
a reasonable risk premium at the date of the assessment of the subsidiary. Management has performed a sensitivity
analysis assessing the impact of change in key assumptions. Due to the wide range of values derived, no sensitivity
analysis has been disclosed as it is not meaningful.
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During the financial year, the Group recognised a goodwill impairment loss of $43.5 million (2011: nil). This reduced the
carrying value of the goodwill arising from the acquisition of the subsidiary, Helm Financial Corporation to its recoverable
amount of $106.4 million (2011: $145.7 million).
The Group also recognised an impairment loss of $9.9 million (2011: nil) on its customer relationships and an impairment
loss of $2.1 million (2011: nil) on its other intangible assets. The Group determined that the decision to sell or scrap
a significant group of locomotives provided an impairment indicator related to these intangible assets and accordingly
tested such intangible assets for impairment. The recoverable amount of the customer relationships intangibles were
determined based on an excess earnings method of valuation that measured the expected earnings derived from
the customers after expected returns on other assets. The customer relationships were written down to $9.5 million.
Management has re-evaluated the useful life of these intangibles and reduced the useful life to 15 years (2011: 2 to 25
years). The other intangible assets were fully impaired to a fair value of zero.
11. Stocks
Group

Consumable supplies and spares
Goods for sale

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

1,350
8,770
10,120

2,372
2,372

12. Amounts due from/to
Company
30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

9

6

588

910

Subsidiaries
Due from subsidiaries - non-trade
Due to subsidiaries - non-trade
The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, repayable on demand and interest-free.
Some of the Company’s transactions and arrangements are between members of the Group and the effects of these on
the basis determined between the parties are reflected in these financial statements.
Group
30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

258

341

Associated company and joint ventures
Due to an associated company and joint ventures – trade

The amounts due to an associated company and joint ventures are unsecured, repayable on demand and interest-free.
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13.

Debtors
Company

Trade debtors
Allowance for doubtful debts

Other debtors - non-trade
Prepayments and deposits
Fair value of derivative instruments
Interest receivable from related parties
Total

Group

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

-

-

22
22
22

22
2
24
24

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

5,092
(115)
4,977

5,321
(122)
5,199

560
414
23
997
5,974

1,087
795
2
1,884
7,083

Movement in allowance for doubtful debts is as follows:
Group
30.06.12
$’000

At beginning of year
Exchange differences
(Write-back)/charge to profit and loss account
At end of year

30.06.11
$’000

122
3
(10)
115

25
(8)
105
122

14. Deposits, bank balances and cash
Company

Deposits, bank balances and cash
Deposits with related parties (Note 26)
Cash and cash equivalents

Group

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

1,377
1,491
2,868

4,194
13,471
17,665

39,955
1,491
41,446

26,622
13,471
40,093

Deposits with banks and related parties mature on varying periods between 8 days to 1 month (2011: 5 days to 3
months) and bear interest ranging from 0.13% to 0.29% (2011: 0.11% to 0.43%) per annum.
15. Creditors
Company

Trade creditors
Accrued expenses
Sundry creditors
Interest payable

66

Group

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

267
513
780

33,573
1,077
34,650

18
9,298
513
53
9,882

181
4,949
1,077
26
6,233
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16. Term loans
Group
Due within
one year
$’000

Due after
one year
$’000

Total
$’000

30.06.12
Term loans

1,518

148,396

149,914

30.06.11
Term loans

1,474

145,565

147,039

On 1 June 2011, the subsidiary refinanced its Term Loan B and revolving credit facility with a new US$170 million Term
Loan and revolving credit agreement (the “Agreement”) with a syndicated group of lenders. The Agreement includes a
US$50 million revolving line of credit, to provide liquidity for working capital and financing of rail equipment, due 2016 and
a US$120 million Term Loan due 2017. At year end, the outstanding Term Loan borrowing was US$118.5 million (2011:
US$119.7 million) and the revolving line of credit was undrawn. Interest is charged at a base rate basis (lender’s reference
rate plus a variable margin) or a Eurodollar basis as defined in the Agreement of 6.25% (2011: 6.25%) per annum. A
commitment fee of 0.5% per annum is required on the unused portion of the revolving line of credit.
The Agreement is collateralised by all of the owned rail equipment and related lease contracts, accounts receivable and
rail equipment held for refurbishment of a subsidiary. The net book value of the assets collateralised on the term loans
amounted to $291 million (2011: $311 million) at the balance sheet date.
The fair values of the term loans, determined based on discounted cash flows using a discount rate based upon the
borrowing rate which management expects would be available to the Group at the balance sheet date, approximate their
carrying amounts.
Term loans due after one year are estimated to be repayable as follows:
Group

Years after year-end:
After one but within two years
After two but within five years
After five years

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

1,518
146,878
148,396

1,474
4,422
139,669
145,565

17. Deferred liabilities
Group

Deferred revenue
Asset retirement obligation
Others

Notes to the Financial Statements

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

635
75
5
715

463
118
20
601
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18. Deferred taxation
Company
30.06.12
$’000

At beginning of year
Exchange difference
(Write-back)/charge for the year
Revaluation surplus/(deficit)
At end of year

Group
30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

8,320
426
(123)
8,623

116,723
2,974
(24,100)
(5,320)
90,277

142,982
(15,418)
(16,517)
5,676
116,723

30

318

56,665
6,206

68,187
11,886

30

8,305
8,623

32,643
3,828
61
99,403

27,457
9,299
8,429
125,258

-

-

30

8,623

8,623
(8,665)
72
30

30.06.11
$’000

Deferred taxation recognised arises as a result of:
Deferred tax liabilities:
Accelerated tax depreciation
Revaluation of investment
Interest in associated company and joint ventures
(undistributed profits)
Intangibles
Offshore income and others

Deferred tax assets:
Other provisions
Unutilised tax losses and benefits

Net deferred tax liabilities

(8,400)
(726)
(9,126)
90,277

(8,413)
(122)
(8,535)
116,723

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unutilised tax benefits carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related
tax benefits through future taxable profits is probable.
The Group has unutilised tax losses of $45.1m (2011: $41.9m) that can be carried forward and used to offset against
future taxable income subject to meeting certain statutory requirements by those companies with unrecognised tax
losses in their respective countries of incorporation.
19. Revenue
Group

Revenue from transportation leasing
Proceeds from sale of investments*
Investment income
Interest income from:
Related parties
Others
Others

*

68

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

47,952
10,929
10,619

56,493
2,507
498

14
36
9,123
78,673

304
220
11,195
71,217

This is stated at gross. The net profit from sale of investments is $10.6m (2011: $2.5m), net of cost of $0.3m (2011: nil).
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20. Staff costs
Group

Salaries and wages
Pension contributions
Other staff expenses
Total

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

7,994
565
563
9,122

8,767
596
575
9,938

21. Operating loss
Operating loss is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following:
Group

Emoluments to Directors of the Company
Depreciation of fixed assets
Amortisation of intangibles
Auditors’ remuneration:
auditors of the Company
other auditors
Profit on disposal of fixed assets
Profit on sale of investments
(Write-back of provision)/provision for doubtful debts
Goodwill impairment loss
Other intangibles impairment loss
Fixed assets impairment loss
Non-audit fee:
auditors of the Company
other auditors

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

453
28,217
1,753

523
30,948
1,834

73
425
(5,237)
(10,601)
(10)
43,477
11,948
18,274

86
446
(6,968)
(2,507)
105
3,455

4
277

4
335

22. Finance expenses
Group

Interest expense:
Term loans
Others
Amortisation of debt issuance cost
Total
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30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

9,868
4
1,329
11,201

6,168
14
1,604
7,786
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23. Taxation
Group

Current tax:
Tax (credit)/expense on loss for the year
Over provision for prior year
Deferred tax:
Movements in temporary differences
Over provision for prior year

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

(1,377)
(35,760)
(37,137)

16,234
(6)
16,228

(15,435)
(8,665)
(61,237)

(12,341)
(4,176)
(289)

The income tax credit on the results of the Group differ from the amount of income tax credit determined by applying the
Singapore standard rate of income tax of 17% to loss before tax due to the following:
Group
30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

Loss before tax:

(60,615)

(4,784)

Tax credit calculated at tax rate of 17% (2011:17%)
Income not subject to tax
Effect of different tax rates in other countries
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Over provision for prior year

(10,305)
(32)
(7,154)
679
(44,425)
(61,237)

(814)
(19)
1,910
2,816
(4,182)
(289)

Group taxation in the current year and prior year included an adjustment of $44.4 million and $4.2 million respectively for
the write-back of prior years’ provision as the provisions are no longer necessary.
24. Earnings/(loss) per share
Group
30.06.12

Net profit/(loss) attributable to shareholders of the Company

30.06.11

Basic
$’000

Diluted
$’000

Basic
$’000

Diluted
$’000

11,851

11,851

(4,716)

(4,716)

30.06.12
Number of Shares
’000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

2,165,618

2,165,618

2,165,618

2,165,618

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
used to compute earnings per share

2,165,618

2,165,618

2,165,618

2,165,618

0.55

0.55

(0.22)

(0.22)

Earnings/(loss) per ordinary share (cents)
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25. Dividends
The Board of Directors is pleased to recommend a tax exempt one-tier final dividend of 0.5 cents per share (30 June
2011: 0.5 cents), in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2012 for approval by shareholders at the next Annual
General Meeting to be convened.
$’000

During the financial year, the following dividends were paid:
Final tax exempt one-tier dividend of 0.5 cents per share on the issued and paid up
ordinary shares in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2011

10,828

26. Significant related party transactions
Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effects of these on the basis
determined between the parties are reflected in these financial statements.
Significant related party transactions:
Group

Revenue
Substantial shareholder and its subsidiaries
Interest income
Associated company and joint ventures
Management and marketing fee

Expenses
Substantial shareholder and its subsidiaries
Professional fee, office rental and other expenses
Management fee
Associated company and joint ventures
Repair costs

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

14

304

3,512
3,526

3,841
4,145

669
4,316

666
3,105

2,908
7,893

3,957
7,728

27. Capital commitments
Group

Capital expenditure not provided for in the financial statements
In respect of contracts placed:
- for overhaul of locomotives

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

47,363

-

The Group has entered into agreements with suppliers to overhaul 102 locomotives for a minimum cost of $47.4 million
over the next 12 to 15 months. In connection with overhaul, the Group has entered into lease agreements with a
customer whereby the customer will commence leasing the refurbished locomotives upon delivery to the customer over
either a five, six, or seven year lease term depending on the date of delivery.
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28. Operating lease commitment
(a) Lessee’s lease commitments
Group

Minimum lease payments under operating
leases recognised as an expense in the year

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

439

470

At the balance sheet date, the commitments in respect of non-cancellable operating leases of office space and rail
equipment with a term of more than one year were as follows:
Group

Within one year
Second to fifth year
Fifth year and onwards

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

520
1,979
153

505
460
-

Future rent payments of office space of a subsidiary are subject to adjustment based upon the subsidiary’s share
of operating costs for the building. Certain leases of rail equipment provide for additional contingent rentals based
on utilisation. Such equipment is sub-leased by a subsidiary to end-users. Minimum lease payments of $439,000
(2011: $470,000) include no contingent rent (2011: $nil).
(b)

Lessor’s lease commitments
Group

Minimum rental income

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

43,588

45,091

At the balance sheet date, the minimum lease payments receivable in respect of non-cancellable operating leases
of rail equipment with a term of more than one year were as follows:
Group

Within one year
Second to fifth year
Fifth year and onwards

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

30,603
42,931
991

23,343
22,297
60

Rail equipment is leased to end-users under operating leases with initial terms ranging from one month to seven
years.
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29. Financial risk management
The activities of the Group are exposed to a variety of financial risks, including the effect of changes in debt and equity
market prices, foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates and oil prices. The Group manages its risk through
diversification of investments. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative
purposes.
Market risk
i)

Interest rate risk
The Group has exposure to market risk for changes in interest rate and such exposure relates to investment in
fixed deposits and term loans. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge investment in fixed
deposits. Where necessary, the Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge interest rate risks.
Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
A change of 0.5% in interest rate at the reporting date would increase/decrease profit/(loss) for the year by the
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.
Profit/(loss) for the year
0.5% increase
0.5% decrease
$’000
$’000

Group
30.06.12
Deposits with financial institutions
Deposits with related parties
Term loans

131
6
(487)

(131)
(6)
487

93
56
(478)

(93)
(56)
478

30.06.11
Deposits with financial institutions
Deposits with related parties
Term loans
ii)

Currency risk
The Group has currency deposits and transactions denominated in foreign currencies arising from its investing
activities, primarily the US dollar. The Group’s foreign currency exposures arise mainly from the exchange rate
movement of these foreign currencies against the Singapore dollar, which is the Group’s reporting currency. The
Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge such risk.
The Company has investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are exposed to currency translation risk.
Exchange differences arising from the translation are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in a separate component of equity.
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29. Financial risk management (continued)
At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of unhedged monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies other than the respective Group entities’ functional currencies are as follows:
30.06.12

30.06.11

USD
$’000

Others
$’000

USD
$’000

Others
$’000

54,970
1,219

-

69,480
3,932

2

17,960
1,218

-

17,064
3,931

-

588

-

910

-

Group
Financial Assets
Available-for-sale investments
Deposits, bank balances and cash
Company
Financial Assets
Available-for-sale investments
Deposits, bank balances and cash
Financial Liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries - non-trade

Sensitivity analysis for currency risk
If the relevant foreign currency change against SGD by 5% (2011: 5%) with all other variables held constant, the
effects will be as follows:
Profit/(loss)
30.06.12
$’000

Equity

30.06.11
$’000

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

Group
USD against SGD
- Strengthened
- Weakened

61
(61)

197
(197)

1,948
(1,948)

2,412
(2,412)

Company
USD against SGD
- Strengthened
- Weakened

90
(90)

243
(243)

745
(745)

708
(708)

Price risk
The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk arising from equity investments classified as available-for-sale
investments. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.
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Sensitivity analysis for price risk
If prices for quoted investments increase/decrease by 5% (2011: 5%) with all other variables held constant, the Group’s
fair value reserve in equity would have been higher/lower by $1,203,000 (2011: $1,704,000) as a result of higher/lower
fair value gains on available-for-sale investments.
Credit risk
Approximately 31% (2011: 34%) of the Group’s revenue generated by its transportation leasing operations is derived
from three major customers. However, the risk is mitigated due to the financial strength of these customers. The
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the customers fail to perform their obligations as at 30 June
2012 is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the balance sheet.
It is the Group’s policy to enter into financial instruments with a diversity of credit-worthy customers. The Group does not
expect to incur material credit losses on its financial assets.
Trade debtors that are neither past due nor impaired are substantially companies with good collection track record with
the Group. Bank deposits, forward foreign exchange contracts, interest rate caps and interest rate swaps are mainly
transacted with banks of high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
The Group has policies in place to ensure that transactions with trade customers are conducted within the Group’s Credit
and Receivable Policy. Open credit accounts are reviewed periodically and credit limits revised where appropriate.
The age analysis of trade debtors past due and/or impaired is as follows:
Group

Past due 0 to 3 months
Past due 3 to 6 months
Past due over 6 months and partially impaired

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

978
42
50
1,070

897
403
128
1,428

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient cash and marketable securities, internally
generated cash flows, and the availability of funding resources through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.
Due to the dynamic nature of business, the Group maintains flexibility in funding by ensuring that ample working capital
lines are available at any one time.
Investment risk
The Group’s activities expose it to the effects of changes in debt and equity market prices, resulting from economic and
non-economic events. Its overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group.
Investment risk exists as a result of changes in economic, industry or geographical factors. The Group’s portfolio of
financial investments is broadly diversified along industry and product lines, with the objective of mitigating significant
concentration of investment risk.
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29. Financial risk management (continued)
Capital risk
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustment to it, in the light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years
ended 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011.
Management monitors capital based on the Group net gearing (times). The Group net gearing (times) is calculated as
net borrowings divided by total capital. Net borrowings are calculated as total term loans (Note 16) less deposits, bank
balances and cash (Note 14). Total capital refers to capital employed under equity.
Group
30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

Net borrowings

108,468

106,946

Total capital

369,945

380,284

0.29

0.28

Group net gearing (times)

Fair value of financial instruments
The Group classifies fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the measurement. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:
•
•
•
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Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)
Level 3 - Inputs for the asset and liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)
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The following table presents the assets measured at fair value at 30 June 2012.
Level 1
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Total
$’000

37,010
37,010

10,198
11,386
21,584

47,208
11,386
58,594

52,416

21,958

74,374

-

2,245

2,245

-

1,775

1,775

Group
30.06.12
Available-for-sale investments
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

30.06.11
Available-for-sale investments
Company
30.06.12
Available-for-sale investments
30.06.11
Available-for-sale investments

The following table presents the reconciliation of available-for-sale investments measured at fair value based on
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).
Company

At 1 July
Additions
Fair value gain recognised in equity
Distributions
Restatement
At 30 June

Notes to the Financial Statements

Group

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

1,775
470
2,245

2,578
1,503
(2,306)
1,775

30.06.12
$’000

30.06.11
$’000

21,958
106
(810)
(11,056)
10,198

2,578
20,183
1,503
(2,306)
21,958
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30. Segment analysis
Financial year ended 30 June 2012
Transportation
leasing
$’000

Investments
$’000

Total
$’000

57,079

21,594

78,673

(74,932)
(11,201)
-

16,242
119

(58,690)
(11,201)
119

9,157
(76,976)
20,546
(56,430)

16,361
40,691
57,052

9,157
(60,615)
61,237
622

(45,201)
(11,229)
(56,430)

57,052
57,052

11,851
(11,229)
622

402,724
245,775
156,949

221,950
8,954
212,996

624,674
254,729
369,945

63,198
39,452
4
29,970
18,274
43,477
11,948

1
46
-

63,198
39,453
50
29,970
18,274
43,477
11,948

Singapore
$’000

USA
$’000

Others
$’000

Total
$’000

42
-

78,631
549,152

17,982

78,673
567,134

Revenue
Segment Results
Operating (loss)/profit
Finance expenses
Foreign exchange gain
Share of results of associated company
and joint ventures
(Loss)/profit before taxation
Taxation
(Loss)/profit for the year
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Other information
Segment assets
Segment liabilities
Net assets
Investment in associated company
and joint ventures
Additions to non-current assets
Interest income
Depreciation and amortisation
Fixed assets impairment loss
Goodwill impairment loss
Other intangibles impairment loss
Geographical Information

External sales
Non-current assets
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Financial year ended 30 June 2011
Transportation
leasing
$’000

Investments
$’000

Total
$’000

67,790

3,427

71,217

(2,675)
(7,786)
-

(1,999)
(1,668)

(4,674)
(7,786)
(1,668)

9,344
(1,117)
469
(648)

(3,667)
(180)
(3,847)

9,344
(4,784)
289
(4,495)

(869)
221
(648)

(3,847)
(3,847)

(4,716)
221
(4,495)

462,463
254,811
207,652

235,225
62,593
172,632

697,688
317,404
380,284

52,639
10,967
102
32,779
3,455

422
3
-

52,639
10,967
524
32,782
3,455

Singapore
$’000

USA
$’000

Others
$’000

Total
$’000

304
-

68,406
631,054

2,507
17,086

71,217
648,140

Revenue
Segment Results
Operating loss
Finance expenses
Foreign exchange loss
Share of results of associated company
and joint ventures
Loss before taxation
Taxation
Loss for the year
Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Other information
Segment assets
Segment liabilities
Net assets
Investment in associated company
and joint ventures
Additions to non-current assets
Interest income
Depreciation and amortisation
Fixed assets impairment loss
Geographical Information

External sales
Non-current assets

Notes:
(a)
The Group is organised into business units based on their products and services and has two reportable operating
segments: Transportation Leasing and Investments. The Transportation Leasing segment represents Helm’s
locomotive and railcar leasing business in North America. The Group’s Investment activities consist of the Group’s
investments in quoted and unquoted investments.
(b)

The Group’s two operating segments operate in three main geographical areas. The operating activities and
investment activities are predominantly in the USA. There are also investment activities in Hong Kong. Singapore is
the home country of the Company and its assets are mainly cash and cash equivalents.

(c)

For the year ended 30 June 2012, revenues from one customer attributable to the Transportation Leasing segment
amounted to approximately $7.97 million. For the year ended 30 June 2011, revenues from one customer
attributable to the Transportation Leasing segment amounted to approximately $8.57 million.
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Interested Person
Transactions
Interested persons as defined by the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“Listing Manual”)
are the Directors, the chief executive officer, or controlling shareholders of the Company, or the associates of any such
Director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder.
Interested person transactions carried out during the financial year pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate obtained under
Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual by the Group are as follows:

Name of interested person

Aggregate value of all interested
person transactions during the
financial year under review
(excluding transactions less than
$100,000 and transactions conducted
under shareholders’ mandate
pursuant to Rule 920 of the
SGX Listing Manual)

Aggregate value of all
interested person
transactions conducted
under shareholders’
mandate pursuant
to Rule 920 of the
SGX Listing Manual

1 Jul 11 to
30 Jun 12
$’000

1 Jul 10 to
30 Jun 11
$’000

1 Jul 11 to
30 Jun 12
$’000

1 Jul 10 to
30 Jun 11
$’000

General Transactions
KCL Group
Greenstreet Partners

-

-

669
4,316

666
3,105

Corporate Treasury Transactions
KCL Group

-

-

1,506

13,775

Total

-

-

6,491

17,546

Saved as disclosed above, in the Directors’ Report and in the Financial Statements, the Company and its subsidiaries did
not enter into any material contracts involving the interests of the Directors or controlling shareholders, which are either still
subsisting at the end of the financial year or, if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.
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Statistics of Shareholdings
As at 3 September 2012

Issued and fully paid-up capital : S$196,438,640.80
No. of Shares issued
: 2,165,618,003
Class of Shares
: Ordinary Shares with equal voting rights
No. of
Shareholders

% of
Shareholders

No. of Shares

% of Shares

1 - 999
1,000 - 10,000
10,001 - 1,000,000
1,000,001 & above

183
3,454
5,593
68

1.97
37.15
60.15
0.73

54,844
23,106,086
380,241,977
1,762,215,096

0.00
1.07
17.56
81.37

Total

9,298

100.00

2,165,618,003

100.00

Size of Shareholdings

Top Twenty Largest Shareholders as at 3 September 2012
Name of Shareholders

Kephinance Investment Pte Ltd
UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd
Lee Pineapple Company Pte Ltd
Technopreneur Investment Pte Ltd
Raffles Nominees (Pte) Ltd
United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd
Citibank Nominees S’pore Pte Ltd
DBS Nominees Pte Ltd
DMG & Partners Securities Pte Ltd
TIF Asia Pte Ltd
Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd
OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd
DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd
Heng Yong Seng
DBS Vickers Securities (S) Pte Ltd
HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd
OCBC Securities Private Ltd
Chiam Toon Chew
Ang Yu Seng
Morph Investments Ltd
Total

Statistics of Shareholdings

No. of Shares

% of Shares

780,137,190
587,180,050
40,000,000
30,590,060
27,454,384
26,996,025
26,534,250
26,278,125
20,091,000
15,293,000
13,605,209
13,094,190
12,133,451
10,000,000
9,429,950
7,108,500
6,705,248
6,411,250
5,321,000
4,620,000

36.02
27.11
1.85
1.41
1.27
1.25
1.23
1.21
0.93
0.71
0.63
0.60
0.56
0.46
0.44
0.33
0.31
0.30
0.25
0.21

1,668,982,882

77.08
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Substantial Shareholders

Name of shareholders

Kephinance Investment Pte Ltd
Keppel Corporation Limited (“KCL”)
Temasek Holdings (Private)
Limited (“Temasek”)
Greenstreet Partners L.P.
Steven Jay Green
Alexander Vahabzadeh
Kamal Bahamdan
BV Singapore Holdings Ltd
BV Investment Holdings Ltd

Direct Interest
No. of shares

780,137,190

%

Deemed Interest
No. of shares
%

36.02

275,332,800

12.71

19,000
135,000
265,000,000

0.0009
0.0062
12.24

780,137,190

36.02

780,137,190

36.02

305,332,800
265,000,000
265,000,000

14.10
12.24
12.24

265,000,000

12.24

Total interest
No. of shares

%

780,137,190
780,137,190

36.02
36.02

780,137,190
275,332,800
305,332,800
265,019,000
265,135,000
265,000,000
265,000,000

36.02
12.71
14.10
12.24
12.24
12.24
12.24

Notes:
1. The interests of KCL arise from its interest in Kephinance Investment Pte Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of KCL.
2. The deemed interests of Temasek arise from its shareholdings in KCL. Please also refer to Note 1 above.
3. The interests of Steven Jay Green arise from his interests in Greenstreet Partners L.P. and Green Family Foundation, Inc.
4. The interests of Alexander Vahabzadeh and Kamal Bahamdan arise from their direct interests as well as their interests in BV Singapore Holdings Ltd.
5. The deemed interests of BV Investment Holdings Ltd arise from their interests in BV Singapore Holdings Ltd.

Public Shareholders
Based on the information available to the Company as at 3 September 2012, approximately 37.6% of the issued shares of
the Company is held by the public and therefore, pursuant to Rules 1207 and 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore
Exchange Securities Trading Limited, it is confirmed that at least 10% of the ordinary shares of the Company is at all times
held by the public.
Treasury Shares
As at 3 September 2012, there are no treasury shares held.
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Financial Calendar

FY 2012
Financial year-end
Announcement of 2012 1Q results
Announcement of 2012 2Q results
Announcement of 2012 3Q results
Announcement of 2012 full year results
Despatch of Annual Report to shareholders
Annual General Meeting
2012 Proposed final dividend
Books closure date
Payment date

30 June 2012
3 November 2011
13 February 2012
14 May 2012
17 July 2012
28 September 2012
16 October 2012

5.00pm, 2 November 2012
14 November 2012

FY 2013
Financial year-end
Announcement of 2013 1Q results
Announcement of 2013 2Q results
Announcement of 2013 3Q results
Announcement of 2013 full year results

Financial Calendar

30 June 2013
November 2012
February 2013
May 2013
August 2013
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Steven Jay Green (Chairman & CEO)
Choo Chiau Beng
Lee Suan Yew
Teo Soon Hoe
Yong Pung How
Jeffrey Alan Safchik
Masroor Taale Siddiqui
Alexander Vahabzadeh
Neo Boon Siong

Audit Committee
Neo Boon Siong (Chairman)
Teo Soon Hoe
Masroor Taale Siddiqui

Compensation and Share Option
Committee
Masroor Taale Siddiqui (Chairman)
Yong Pung How
Choo Chiau Beng

Registered Office
1 HarbourFront Avenue
#18-01 Keppel Bay Tower
Singapore 098632
Telephone: (65) 6438 8898
Telefax: (65) 6431 6352
Email: info@k1Ventures.com
Website: www.k1ventures.com.sg

Nominating Committee
Lee Suan Yew (Chairman)
Choo Chiau Beng
Neo Boon Siong

Share Registrar
B.A.C.S. Private Limited
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Notice of Annual General Meeting/
Closure of Books

k1 Ventures Limited
Co. Reg. No. 197000535W
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting of k1 Ventures Limited (the “Company”) will be held at Grand
Copthorne Waterfront Hotel, Riverfront Ballroom (Level 2), 392 Havelock Road, Singapore 169663 on Tuesday, 16 October
2012 at 5.00 p.m. to transact the following business:
Ordinary Business
1.

To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 30 June 2012.

Resolution 1

2.

To declare a tax exempt one-tier final dividend of 0.5 cents per share for the year ended 30 June 2012
(2011: 0.5 cents).

Resolution 2

3.

To re-elect the following directors, each of whom will retire pursuant to Article 86 of the Company’s
Articles of Association and who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election pursuant to Article 87
(see Note 3):

4.

5.

(a)

Mr Teo Soon Hoe

Resolution 3(a)

(b)

Mr Jeffrey Alan Safchik

Resolution 3(b)

To re-appoint the following directors, each of whom will cease to be a director at the conclusion of
this Annual General Meeting in accordance with Section 153(2) of the Companies Act, Cap 50 of
Singapore (“Companies Act”), and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment pursuant
to Section 153(6) of the Companies Act to hold office until the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company (see Note 3):
(a)

Dr Lee Suan Yew

Resolution 4(a)

(b)

Mr Yong Pung How

Resolution 4(b)

To approve the remuneration of the directors of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June
2012, comprising the following:
(a)

Resolution 5

the payment of directors’ fees of S$421,166 in cash (2011:S$461,333) (see Note 4).
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(b)

(1)

the award of an aggregate number of 323,000 existing ordinary shares in the capital of the
Company (the “Remuneration Shares”) to non-executive directors, namely Messrs Choo
Chiau Beng, Dr Lee Suan Yew, Teo Soon Hoe, Yong Pung How, Masroor Taale Siddiqui,
Alexander Vahabzadeh, Prof Neo Boon Siong and Mr Ow Chio Kiat as payment in part of
their respective remuneration for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 as follows:
(i)

45,000 Remuneration Shares to Mr Choo Chiau Beng;

(ii)

45,000 Remuneration Shares to Dr Lee Suan Yew;

(iii)

45,000 Remuneration Shares to Mr Teo Soon Hoe;

(iv)

45,000 Remuneration Shares to Mr Yong Pung How;

(v)

45,000 Remuneration Shares to Mr Masroor Taale Siddiqui;

(vi)

45,000 Remuneration Shares to Mr Alexander Vahabzadeh;

(vii)

45,000 Remuneration Shares to Prof Neo Boon Siong; and

(viii) 8,000 Remuneration Shares to Mr Ow Chio Kiat (see Note 5)

6.

(2)

the directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to instruct
a third party agency to purchase from the market 323,000 existing shares at such price
as the directors may deem fit and deliver the Remuneration Shares to each non-executive
director in the manner as set out in (1) above; and

(3)

any director or any of the Company Secretaries be authorised to do all things necessary
or desirable to give effect to the above (see Note 5).

To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as auditors of the Company for the financial year ending
30 June 2013, and to authorise the directors to fix their remuneration.

Resolution 6

As Special Business
To consider and, if thought fit, approve with or without modification, the following resolutions as Ordinary
Resolutions:
7.

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Rule 806 of the listing manual (the “Listing
Manual”) of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) and Article 5 of the
Company’s Articles of Association, authority be and is hereby given to the directors of the Company to:
(1)
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(a)

issue shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”), whether by way of rights, bonus
or otherwise, and including any capitalisation pursuant to Article 137 of the Company’s
Articles of Association of any sum for the time being standing to the credit of any of the
Company’s reserve accounts or any sum standing to the credit of the profit and loss
account or otherwise available for distribution; and/or

(b)

make or grant offers, agreements or options that might or would require Shares to be
issued (including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments
to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares) (collectively
“Instruments”),

Resolution 7
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at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons
as the directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and
(2)

(notwithstanding that the authority so conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in
force) issue Shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the directors while the
authority was in force;

provided that:

8.

(i)

the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Shares to
be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution and any
adjustment effected under any relevant Instrument) shall not exceed 50 per cent. of the total
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury Shares) (as calculated in accordance with subparagraph (ii) below), of which the aggregate number of Shares to be issued other than on a
pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of
Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution and any adjustment effected under
any relevant Instrument) shall not exceed 20 per cent. of the total number of issued Shares
(excluding treasury Shares)(as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) below);

(ii)

(subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose
of determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (i)
above, the percentage of issued Shares shall be calculated based on the total number of issued
Shares (excluding treasury Shares) at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:
(a)

new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities or share
options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting as at the time this
Resolution is passed; and

(b)

any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or sub-division of Shares;

(iii)

in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the
provisions of the Companies Act, the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force
(unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for
the time being of the Company; and

(iv)

(unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred by this
Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by
law to be held, whichever is the earlier (see Note 6).
Resolution 8

That:
(i)

approval be and is hereby given, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the
SGX-ST (“Chapter 9”), for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies that are
entities at risk (as that term is used in Chapter 9), or any of them, to enter into any of the
transactions falling within the types of Interested Person Transactions described in Appendix 1
to this Notice of Annual General Meeting (“Appendix 1”), with any person who falls within the
classes of Interested Persons described in Appendix 1, provided that such transactions are
made on arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the review
procedures for Interested Person Transactions as set out in Appendix 1 (the “Shareholders’
Mandate”);
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9.

(ii)

the Shareholders’ Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting,
continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the
date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held,
whichever is the earlier;

(iii)

the Audit Committee of the Company be and is hereby authorised to take such action as it
deems proper in respect of such procedures and/or to modify or implement such procedures
as may be necessary to take into consideration any amendment to Chapter 9 which may be
prescribed by the SGX-ST from time to time; and

(iv)

the directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete
and do all such acts and things (including, without limitation, executing all such documents as
may be required) as they and/or he may consider expedient or necessary or in the interests of
the Company to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate and/or this Resolution (see Note 7).
Resolution 9

That:
(1)

for the purposes of the Companies Act, the exercise by the directors of the Company of all the
powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire Shares not exceeding in aggregate
the Maximum Limit (as hereafter defined), at such price(s) as may be determined by the directors
of the Company from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter defined), whether by
way of:
(a)

market purchase(s) on the SGX-ST (each a “Market Purchase”); and/or

(b)

off-market purchase(s) in accordance with any equal access scheme(s) as may be
determined or formulated by the directors of the Company as they consider fit, which
scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies Act (each an “OffMarket Purchase”),

and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations, including but not limited to, the
provisions of the Companies Act and listing rules of the SGX-ST as may for the time being be
applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the “Share
Buy-Back Mandate”);
(2)
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unless varied or revoked by the members of the Company in a general meeting, the authority
conferred on the directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Buy-Back Mandate may be
exercised by the directors at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from
the date of the passing of this Resolution and expiring on the earliest of:
(a)

the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held;

(b)

the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to
be held; or

(c)

the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company pursuant to
the Share Buy-Back Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated;
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(3)

in this Resolution:
“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last
five (5) consecutive Market Days (a “Market Day” being a day on which the SGX-ST is open for
trading in securities), on which Shares are transacted on the SGX-ST:
(a)

in the case of Market Purchases, immediately preceding the date of Market Purchase by
the Company; or

(b)

in the case of Off-Market Purchases, immediately preceding the date on which the
Company makes an announcement of its intention to make an offer for the purchase or
acquisition of Shares from holders of Shares, stating therein the purchase price (which
shall not be more than the Maximum Price) for each Share and the relevant terms of the
equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase;

and deemed to be adjusted in accordance with the listing rules of the SGX-ST for any corporate
action which occurs after the relevant five day period;
“Maximum Limit” means that number of issued Shares representing 10 per cent. of the total
number of issued Shares as at the date of the last Annual General Meeting or at the date
of the passing of this Resolution whichever is higher unless the Company has effected a
reduction of the share capital of the Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of
the Companies Act, at any time during the Relevant Period (as hereafter defined), in which event
the total number of issued Shares shall be taken to be the total number of issued Shares as
altered (excluding any treasury Shares that may be held by the Company from time to time);
“Maximum Price”, in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase price
(excluding brokerage, stamp duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other
related expenses) which is:
(a)

in the case of a Market Purchase, 105 per cent. of the Average Closing Price of the
Shares; and

(b)

in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 120 per
cent. of the Average Closing Price of the Shares;

“Relevant Period” means the period commencing from the date on which the last Annual
General Meeting was held and expiring on the date the next Annual General Meeting of the
Company is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier after the date of this
Resolution; and
(4)

the directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete
and do all such acts and things (including without limitation, executing such documents as may
be required) as they and/or he may consider necessary, expedient, incidental or in the interests
of the Company to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by this
Resolution (see Note 8).

To transact any other business which can be transacted at an Annual General Meeting of the Company.

Notice of Annual General Meeting/Closure of Books
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NOTICE IS ALSO HEREBY GIVEN that the Transfer Books and the Register of Members of the Company will be closed on 3
November 2012, for the preparation of dividend warrants. Duly stamped and completed transfers received by the Company’s
Registrar, B.A.C.S. Private Limited, at 63 Cantonment Road, Singapore 089758 up to the close of business at 5.00 p.m.
on 2 November 2012 will be registered to determine members’ entitlement to the proposed final dividend. Members whose
Securities Accounts with the Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with Shares as at 5.00 p.m. on 2 November 2012 will
be entitled to the proposed final dividend.
The proposed final dividend if approved at this Annual General Meeting will be paid on 14 November 2012.
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Kenny Lee/Winnie Mak
Company Secretaries
Singapore, 28 September 2012

Notes:
1. The Chairman of this Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) will be exercising his right under Article 64 of the Company’s Articles of
Association to demand a poll in respect of each of the resolutions to be put to the vote of Members at the AGM and at any adjournment
thereof. Accordingly, each resolution at the AGM will be voted on by way of a poll.
2.

A Member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the AGM is also entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and
vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a Member of the Company. The proxy form must be deposited at the registered office of the
Company at 1 HarbourFront Avenue, #18-01 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed
for holding the AGM.

3.

Detailed information about these directors can be found in the “Board of Directors” section of the Company’s Annual Report. Mr Jeffrey
Alan Safchik will upon re-election continue to serve as Executive Director. Mr Teo Soon Hoe will upon re-election continue to serve as
member of the Audit Committee and will be considered non-independent. Dr Lee Suan Yew will upon re-appointment continue to serve
as Chairman of the Nominating Committee and will be considered independent. Mr Yong Pung How will upon re-appointment continue
to serve as member of the Compensation and Share Option Committee and will be considered independent.

4.

The framework of directors’ fees is set out in the Company’s Corporate Governance Report on pages 31 and 32 of the Company’s
Annual Report 2012.

5.

The proposed award of Remuneration Shares to the non-executive directors forms part of the ordinary remuneration of the nonexecutive directors for the financial year ended 30 June 2012, and is in addition to the proposed directors’ fees in cash referred to in this
Resolution 5. The Remuneration Shares to be awarded to the non-executive directors will rank pari passu with the then existing issued
Shares at the time of the award. The non-executive directors will each, subject to Shareholders’ approval, be awarded 45,000 Shares
as part of their remuneration for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 save for Mr Ow Chio Kiat who will be awarded 8,000 Shares
(pro-rated). Mr Ow Chio Kiat resigned as a director of the Company with effect from 18 August 2011. The non-executive directors will
abstain from voting, and will procure that their respective associates shall abstain from voting, in respect of this Resolution 5.

6.

Resolution 7 is to empower the directors from the date of the AGM until the date of the next AGM to issue Shares and Instruments in
the Company, up to a number not exceeding 50% of the total number of Shares (excluding treasury Shares) (with a sub-limit of 20% of
the total number of Shares (excluding treasury Shares) in respect of Shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders).
For the purpose of determining the total number of Shares (excluding treasury Shares) that may be issued, the percentage of issued
Shares shall be based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury Shares) at the time that this Resolution 7 is passed, after
adjusting for (a) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities, (b) new Shares arising from exercising
share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time that Resolution 7 is passed, and (c) any
subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or sub-division of Shares.

7.

Resolution 8 is to renew a mandate which was originally approved by shareholders on 23 June 1997 (last amended on 31 October
2007) and was last approved at the annual general meeting of the Company on 28 October 2011, allowing the Company and its
subsidiaries and associated companies to enter into transactions with interested persons as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual
of the SGX-ST. Please refer to Appendix 1 to this Notice of AGM for details.

8.

Resolution 9 is to renew the Share Buy-Back Mandate, which was originally approved by shareholders on 30 April 1999 (last amended
on 31 October 2006) and was last approved at the annual general meeting of the Company on 28 October 2011. Please refer to
Appendix 2 to this Notice of AGM for details.

9.

The Company had previously announced that the AGM is to be held on 24 October 2012. As stated in this Notice of AGM, the
Company has determined that the AGM be held on 16 October 2012 instead.
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1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy k1 Ventures Limited’s shares, this
Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees and
is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.
2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors and shall be ineffective for all intents
and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.
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3. CPF Investors who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting as observers have to
submit their requests through their CPF Approved Nominees so that their CPF Approved
Nominees may register, within the specified timeframe, with k1 Ventures Limited’s Share
Registrar. (CPF Approved Nominees: please refer to Note No. 7 on the reverse side of
this form for the required details)
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4. CPF investors who wish to vote must submit their voting instructions to their CPF
Approved Nominees to enable them to vote on their behalf.

Proxy Form
I/We

(Name)

(NRIC/Passport Number)

of

(Address)

being a member(s) of k1 Ventures Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint:
Name

Address

NRIC/
Passport Number

Proportion of Shareholdings

NRIC/
Passport Number

Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares

%

and/or (delete as appropriate)
Name

Address

No. of Shares

%

NOTE: The Chairman of the Annual General Meeting will be exercising his right under Article 64 of the Articles of
Association of the Company to demand a poll in respect of the resolutions to be put to the vote of the Members at
the Annual General Meeting and at any adjournment thereof. Accordingly, each resolution at the Annual General
Meeting will be voted on by way of poll.

Resolutions

Number
of Votes For *

Number
of Votes Against *

Ordinary Business
1.
Adoption of Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts
2.
Declaration of tax-exempt one-tier final dividend
3(a). Re-election of Mr Teo Soon Hoe as director
3(b). Re-election of Mr Jeffrey Alan Safchik as director
4(a). Re-appointment of Dr Lee Suan Yew as director
4(b). Re-appointment of Mr Yong Pung How as director
5.
Approval of remuneration to directors comprising payment of Directors’ fees
and award of Remuneration Shares
6.
Re-appointment of Auditors
Special Business
7.
Authority to issue shares and convertible instruments
8.
Renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate for Interested Person Transactions
9.
Renewal of the Share Buy-Back Mandate
*

If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against” the relevant resolution, please indicate with an “X” within the relevant box provided. Alternatively, if you wish
to exercise your votes for both “For” and “Against” the relevant resolution, please indicate the number of Shares in the boxes provided.

Dated this _______ day of ____________ 2012

Total Number of
Shares held

_____________________________________
Signature(s) or Common Seal of Member(s)
IMPORTANT: Please read the notes on the overleaf.
Fold and glue along dotted line

Fold and glue along dotted line

as my/our proxy/proxies to vote on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Grand Copthorne
Waterfront Hotel, Riverfront Ballroom (Level 2), 392 Havelock Road, Singapore 169663 on Tuesday, 16 October 2012 at 5.00 p.m., and
at any adjournment thereof. I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as
indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at his/their discretion,
as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Meeting and at any adjournment thereof.

Notes:
1.

Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as
defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares. If you only have
Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. However, if you have Shares
entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert
the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of
Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all of the Shares held by
you.

2.

A Member entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and
vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. Where a Member appoints two proxies, the proportion of the
shareholding concerned to be represented by each proxy shall be specified in the proxy form. If no percentage is specified, the first
named proxy shall be deemed to represent 100 per cent. of the shareholding and the second named proxy shall be deemed to be an
alternate to the first named proxy.

3.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 1 HarbourFront Avenue, #1801 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Annual General Meeting.

Fold along this line (2)

Affix
Postage
Stamp

The Company Secretaries
k1 Ventures Limited
1 HarbourFront Avenue
#18-01 Keppel Bay Tower
Singapore 098632

Fold along this line (1)

4.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing. Where
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand of its
officer or attorney duly authorised in writing. Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney,
the power of attorney or other authority or a duly certified copy thereof shall (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with
the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

5.

A corporation which is a Member may authorise by, resolution of its directors or other governing body, such person as it thinks fit to act as
its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

6.

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible or
where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing
a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Members whose Shares are entered against their names in the Depository Register, the
Company shall reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if such Members are not shown to have shares entered against
their names in the Depository Register 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting as certified by The
Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

7.

CPF Approved Nominees acting on the request of CPF investors who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting as observers are required
to submit in writing, a list with details of the CPF investors’ name, NRIC/Passport numbers, addresses and number of shares held. The list,
signed by an authorised signatory of the CPF Approved Nominee, has to reach the Company’s Share Registrar, B.A.C.S. Private Limited at
63 Cantonment Road, Singapore 089758 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting.
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